Public Document Pack
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Planning Committee (South)
Tuesday, 9th March, 2021 at 2.30 pm
via Remote Video Link

Councillors:

Brian Donnelly (Chairman)
Tim Lloyd (Vice-Chairman)
John Blackall
Chris Brown
Jonathan Chowen
Philip Circus
Paul Clarke
Michael Croker
Ray Dawe
Nigel Jupp
Liz Kitchen
Lynn Lambert

Mike Morgan
Roger Noel
Bob Platt
Josh Potts
Kate Rowbottom
Jack Saheid
Jim Sanson
Diana van der Klugt
Claire Vickers
James Wright

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business
Glen Chipp
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 16 February 2021.
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.)

3.

Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee

4.

Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the
Chief Executive

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) Horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive – Glen Chipp

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

7 - 12

To consider the following reports of the Head of Development and to take such action thereon
as may be necessary:
Applications for determination by Committee:
5.

DC/20/1788 - Land at Gate Cottage, The Street, Thakeham

13 - 34

Ward: West Chiltington, Thakeham and Ashington
Applicant: Mr and Mrs Binnington
6.

DC/20/2184 - Land Adjacent to St. Anne's, Hyde Street, Upper Beeding

35 - 54

Ward: Bramber, Upper Beeding and Woodmancote
Applicant: Mr Simon Stringer
7.

SDNP/20/05253/FUL - Greenacres Farm, Washington Road, Storrington

55 - 70

Ward: Storrington and Washington
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Len & Christine Earl
8.

DC/20/2280 - Badgers Nook, Melton Avenue, Storrington

71 - 82

Ward: Storrington and Washington
Applicant: Mr and Mrs M Newnum
9.

DC/20/2269 - Infill Plot West of Elmfield House, New Hall Lane, Small Dole
Ward: Bramber, Upper Beeding and Woodmancote
Applicant: Clow

10.

Urgent Business
Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion
should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances

83 - 94

Agenda Annex
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution)
Addressing the
Committee

Members must address the meeting through the Chair. When the
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at
the time must stop.

Minutes

Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the
minutes only.

Quorum

Quorum is one quarter of the total number of Committee Members. If
there is not a quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately.
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the
Chairman. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be
considered at the next committee meeting.

Declarations of
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or
pecuniary). If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in
advance of the meeting.

Announcements

These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no
debate/decisions.

Appeals

The Chairman will draw the Committee’s attention to the appeals listed
in the agenda.

Agenda Items

The Planning Officer will give a presentation of the application, referring
to any addendum/amended report as appropriate outlining what is
proposed and finishing with the recommendation.

Public Speaking on
Agenda Items
(Speakers must give
notice by not later than
noon two working
days before the date
of the meeting)

Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District are allowed 5 minutes
each to make representations; members of the public who object to the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes; applicants and members of the public who support the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes. Any time limits may be changed at the discretion of
the Chairman.

Rules of Debate

The Chairman controls the debate and normally follows these rules
but the Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain
purpose) and seconded
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to
him/her before it is discussed
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the planning application under discussion or
a personal explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes or longer at
the discretion of the Chairman)
- A Member may not speak again except:
o On an amendment to a motion
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been
amended since he/she last spoke
o If the first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the
main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply. Mover of original motion

Page 3

-

-

-

-

has a right to reply at end of debate on original motion
and any amendments (but may not otherwise speak on
amendment). Mover of amendment has no right of reply.
o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of
Council Procedure Rules or law. Chairman must hear
the point of order immediately. The ruling of the
Chairman on the matter will be final.
o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier
speech by the Member which may appear to have been
misunderstood. The Chairman’s ruling on the
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.
Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for
(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert words or add others (as long as
this does not negate the motion)
One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided
upon.
Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which
further amendments may be moved.
A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Alternative Motion to
Approve

If a Member moves an alternative motion to approve the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to refuse), and it is
seconded, Members will vote on the alternative motion after debate. If a
majority vote against the alternative motion, it is not carried and
Members will then vote on the original recommendation.

Alternative Motion to
Refuse

If a Member moves an alternative motion to refuse the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to approve), the
Mover and the Seconder must give their reasons for the alternative
motion. The Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property
or the Head of Development will consider the proposed reasons for
refusal and advise Members on the reasons proposed. Members will
then vote on the alternative motion and if not carried will then vote on
the original recommendation.

Voting

Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- Two Members request a recorded vote
- A recorded vote is required by law.
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Vice-Chairman

In the Chairman’s absence (including in the event the Chairman is
required to leave the Chamber for the debate and vote), the ViceChairman controls the debate and follows the rules of debate as above.

Page 4

Original recommendation to APPROVE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – APPROVED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT
A REFUSAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Member to move
alternative motion
to REFUSE and give
planning reasons

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 5

Director considers
planning reasons

Vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)
carried – APPROVED

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to REFUSE1

Majority against?
Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
to REFUSE carried
amended condition(s) - REFUSED
not carried – VOTE ON
ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to REFUSE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated
1

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Subject to Director’s power to refer application to Full Council if cost implications are likely.

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Original recommendation to REFUSE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – REFUSED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT AN
APPROVAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE and give
planning reasons2

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 6

Director considers
planning reasons

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE carried
- APPROVED

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated

2

Oakley v South Cambridgeshire District Council and another [2017] EWCA Civ 71

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Agenda Item 2
Planning Committee (South)
16 FEBRUARY 2021

Present:

Councillors: Brian Donnelly (Chairman), Tim Lloyd (Vice-Chairman),
John Blackall, Chris Brown, Jonathan Chowen, Philip Circus,
Paul Clarke, Michael Croker, Ray Dawe, Nigel Jupp, Liz Kitchen,
Lynn Lambert, Mike Morgan, Roger Noel, Bob Platt, Josh Potts,
Kate Rowbottom, Jack Saheid, Jim Sanson, Diana van der Klugt,
Claire Vickers and James Wright

PCS/56 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 December 2020 were approved as a
correct record and would be signed by the Chairman at a later date.
PCS/57 DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
Councillor Mike Morgan declared a pecuniary interest in application DC/20/2200
as one of the public objectors was a member of his family. Cllr Morgan agreed
to leave the meeting for the duration of this item.
Councillor Jack Saheid declared a pecuniary interest in application DC/20/2200
as he knew the applicant. Cllr Saheid agreed to leave the meeting for the
duration of this item.
Councillor Jack Saheid declared a pecuniary and prejudicial interest in
application DC/20/1547 as he was the applicant. Cllr Saheid agreed to the
leave the meeting for the duration of this item.
The Chairman announced that all Members of the committee had a personal
interest in application DC/20/1547 as the applicant was a District Councillor.
PCS/58 ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chairman announced that Planning applications DC/20/2143 and
DC/20/2322 had been included on the agenda by request of Storrington &
Sullington Parish Council. Prior to the meeting the Parish Council withdrew their
request and the Committee resolved to delegate the application to the Head of
Development and Building Control with a view to approve subject to the
additional of a condition for application DC/20/2143 requiring a scheme for the
provision of electric vehicle charging points.
PCS/59 APPEALS
The list of appeals lodged, appeals in progress and appeal decisions, as
circulated, was noted.

1

Page 7

Planning Committee (South)
16 February 2021

PCS/60 DC/20/2200 - BRANGWYN, STATION ROAD, HENFIELD
The Head of Development reported that this application had been submitted
following the Council’s refusal of a previous proposal for a similar scheme
(DC/20/0885 – refused August 2020). It was reported that application
DC/20/2200 sought approval for a development that was substantially the same
as refused scheme DC/20/0885.
Application DC/20/2200 sought the demolition of an existing shop/residential
building and redevelopment of the site to provide 10 single bedroom flats in a
three-storey building.
The location of the application site had not changed from the previously
submitted scheme, DC/20/0885. The site was located within the built-up area
boundary of Henfield, fronting Station Road.
There had been 12 representations from 8 addresses, 6 of these were in
objection and 2 in support. One member of the public spoke in objection to the
application. The applicant’s architect addressed the Committee in support of the
proposal. A representative of the Parish Council spoke in support of the
application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; loss of shop; housing mix; scale and appearance; impact on
amenity; trees, landscaping and ecology; highways and parking; drainage; and
climate change.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/2200 be refused for the reasons as set
out in the officer’s report.
PCS/61 DC/20/1519 - HOBBITS, STALL HOUSE LANE, NORTH HEATH,
PULBOROUGH
The Head of Development reported that this application was presented at
Planning Committee South, 15th December 2020, where members resolved
that the application be determined by the Head of Development with a view to
approval, subject to the amendment of conditions in consultation with Local
Members. Following the committee meeting officers were made aware of
having mistakenly misquoted Paragraph 109 of the NPPF when responding to
member questions.
Three members of the public spoke in objection to the application and the
applicant’s agent addressed the committee in support. Pulborough Parish
Council spoke in objection to the application.

Page
2 8

Planning Committee (South)
16 February 2021

3

A representation with a transport assessment was received late, on the morning
of 16 February. Members decided that it would not be accepted given its late
submission.
After careful consideration Members decided that the application should be
deferred to allow WSCC Highways to perform as site visit as Members felt that
a desktop report was not sufficient for this application. Members would also be
able to consider the late representation when this application is next considered
by the committee.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/1519 be deferred to enable WSCC
Highways to undertake a site visit.
PCS/62 DC/20/2234 - WINDWAYS, COMMON HILL, WEST CHILTINGTON
The Head of Development reported that this application sought permission for
the erection of a pair of semi-detached two-storey dwellings on the eastern side
of Common Hill, West Chiltington.
The application site was located within the front garden curtilage serving
Windways, a detached two-story dwelling on the eastern side of Common Hill.
7 letters of objection had been received from 6 households. One member of the
public spoke in objection to the application. West Chiltington Parish Council
raised an objection to the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; design; impact on neighbouring amenity; highways impact;
climate change.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/2234 be approved subject to the
conditions as set out in the officer’s report.
PCS/63 DC/20/2143 - STORRINGTON SQUASH CLUB, GREYFRIARS LANE,
STORRINGTON
Planning application DC/20/2143 had been included on the agenda by request
of Storrington & Sullington Parish Council. Prior to the meeting the Parish
Council withdrew their request and the Committee resolved to delegate the
application to the Head of Development and Building Control with a view to
approve subject to an additional condition requiring a scheme for the provision
of electric vehicle charging points.
RESOLVED

Page3 9

Planning Committee (South)
16 February 2021

That planning application DC/20/2143 be delegated to the Head of
Development and Building Control with a view to approve and subject to
an additional condition requiring a scheme for the provision of electric
vehicle charging.
PCS/64 DC/20/1294 - TEA CADDY COTTAGES, WORTHING ROAD, WEST
GRINSTEAD
The Head of Development reported that this application sought permission for
the demolition of an existing dwelling and commercial building and the
construction of one 4-bedroom dwelling and one 3-bedroom self-build dwelling.
The application site was located outside any defined built up area boundary and
so was in the countryside. The site was located to the east of the A24, to the
south of the Buck Barn crossroads.
13 letters of support had been received.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; the extant prior approval consent on the site; design and
appearance; trees and landscaping; highways impacts; ecology; climate
change.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/1294 be approved subject to the
conditions as set out in the officer’s report.
PCS/65 DC/20/1923 - LITTLE ROCK COTTAGE, HURSTON LANE, STORRINGTON
The Head of Development reported that this application sought retrospective
planning permission for the change of use of part of an open pasture field,
belonging to Little Rock Cottage, to form a six-pitch glamping/camping site with
portable toilets and a shower facility.
The application site was located within the countryside, around 150m from the
built-up area boundary of Storrington and would be accessed from Hurston
Lane via a single vehicular gate.
5 letters of objection had been received by 4 households. The applicant and
applicant’s agent addressed the committee in support of the application.
Storrington & Sullington Parish Council spoke in objection to the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; landscape impact; design and appearance; amenity impacts;
highway impacts; climate change.

Page 410

Planning Committee (South)
16 February 2021

5

Members were in favour of approving this application but wanted the Local
Members to be involved in rewording conditions 6 and 11.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/1923 be approved subject to the
agreement of conditions 6 and 11 in consultation with Local Members.
PCS/66 DC/20/1547 - NEW SPINNEY, SPINNEY LANE, WEST CHILTINGTON
The Head of Development reported that the purpose of this report was to
update Members since the application was originally considered on 24
November 2020 by Planning Committee South. At this meeting the application
was deferred from consideration to allow planning officers to undertake
discussions with the applicant with a view to relocating the solar panels to a
more appropriate location, potentially being the southern elevation of the host
property. Whilst discussions had taken place with the applicant, no agreement
had been reached to reposition the panels and therefore the application was
brought back to committee for determination.
One member of the public spoke in objection to the application.
After careful consideration Members concluded that as an agreement with the
applicant could not be reached, the current location of the panels caused a
significant detriment to neighbouring properties and the streetscene and
therefore application DC/20/1547 should be refused.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/1547 be refused for the following
reason:
The siting of the panels does not reasonably minimise their detriment to
neighbouring properties and the streetscene, including the setting of the
adjacent Wells Cottages as non-designated heritage assets, with
particular reference to the garage panels, contrary to Policies 33 and 34
of the Horsham District Planning Framework.
PCS/67 DC/20/2322 - TICKLETAG FARM, HURSTON LANE, STORRINGTON
Planning application DC/20/2322 had been included on the agenda by request
of Storrington & Sullington Parish Council. Prior to the meeting the Parish
Council withdrew their request and the Committee resolved to delegate the
application to the Head of Development and Building Control with a view to
approve.
RESOLVED

Page5 11

Planning Committee (South)
16 February 2021

That planning application DC/20/2322 be delegated to the Head of
Development and Building Control with a view to approve the application
subject to the conditions as set out in the officer’s report.

The meeting closed at 6.22 pm having commenced at 2.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 612

Agenda Item 5
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

9th March 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Erection of 2No. double storey dwellings with associated works (Full
Application).

SITE:

Land at Gate Cottage The Street Thakeham West Sussex RH20 3EP

WARD:

West Chiltington, Thakeham and Ashington

APPLICATION:

DC/20/1788

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs Binnington Address: C/O Agent

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: By request of Thakeham Parish Council
RECOMMENDATION:
1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of two semi-detached
dwelling houses to the south of Gate Cottage with associated parking and works. The two
storey dwellings would be orientated to the east, with a combined width of 19.9 metres, a
depth of 5.7 metres and an external floor area of 112sqm each. The proposed dwellings
would sit 1 metre higher than the access road and public right of way level to the east.

1.2

A set of steps would provide access up to the front of each property with a low brick wall
and railings along the sites frontage. The dwellings have a simple cottage design with
pitched roofs and pitched roof gable features to the front eastern elevations. The dwellings
would incorporate an eaves height of 5 metres from the proposed ground level and a total
ridge height of 7.9 metres.

1.3

The proposal would involve some earthworks and changes to the existing topography of
the site which currently incorporates a steep bank lined with trees. The proposed dwellings
would be set into the bank, with the first floor rear level of the dwellings sitting
approximately level with the elevated grassed fields adjacent to the site to the west. The
rear gardens to the west of the dwellings would extend between 8 metres and 18 metres in
length, and would be elevated approximately 3 metres above the ground floor level in which
the proposed dwelling houses would be situated.

1.4

Two tandem parking spaces would be provided to the north of the northernmost property
and to the south of the southernmost property. Retaining brick walls measuring 0.5 metres

Contact Officer: Rebecca Tier

Page 13

Tel: 01403 215189

in height are proposed immediately to the north and south of the tandem parking spaces
within the development. Retaining brick walls measuring 0.5 metres in height are also
proposed to the south (rear) of the parking spaces which would be elevated 1.2 metres in
comparison to the road level.
1.5

Vehicular access would be from the access road to the east of the site which continues on
from The Street to the north. The proposal would include a total of four parking spaces,
which would comprise two parking spaces per dwelling arranged to the side of each
property in a tandem parking arrangement.

1.6

During the consideration of this application, amended plans have been received which
have made the following revisions to the original plans submitted:





The development has been moved four metres further to the south to move it further
away from the Ash tree in the northern part of the site.
The development has been moved 2.8 metres further to the east, towards the access
road.
The height of the brick retaining walls to the west of the car parking spaces have been
reduced from 1.6 metres to 0.5 metres in height.
An updated Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Retention plan to reflect the relocated position of the development.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.7

The site is located within the built-up area boundary and within the Parish of Thakeham.
The site forms a grassed piece of land which incorporates a steeply tree lined bank which
lies to the south of Gate Cottage. Gate Cottage is a Grade II Listed building located on the
south side of The Street. The site also lies within the Thakeham Conservation Area which
runs along the Street to the north and includes a number of listed buildings.

1.8

Gate Cottage, is a detached two storey dwelling which has associated land which extends
to the southerly rear and south-eastern side. The existing dwelling, Gate Cottage is built
into the hill, as is the case with the majority of the properties along The Street. The westerly
rear garden serving the dwelling is raised in height up to the first floor level of the dwelling
house. The Historic England description for Gate Cottages describes the building as:
“C17 or earlier timber-framed cottage with painted brick infilling. Tiled roof.
Casement windows. Crow-stepped chimney breast at west end. Two storeys.
Two windows.”

1.9

There are residential properties to the north and north-east that follow the linear line of The
Street and typically comprise two storey properties. To the south and west of the site, the
area becomes more rural in nature with the Public Right of Way 2483 to the west of the site
providing access to a series of interlinked Public Right of Ways. Further to the south of the
site lies, the Grade II Listed Building, Thakeham Place along with Thakeham Place Farm
and a pair of two semi-detached cottages, 1 & 2 Wood Cottages. To the west of the site,
there are large open agricultural fields.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

Page 14

National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 41 - Parking
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Thakeham Neighbourhood Plan – January 2017
Thakeham 1: A Spatial Plan for the Parish
Thakeham 6: Design
Thakeham 7: Heritage Assets
Thakeham 10: Green Infrastructure & Valued Landscapes
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
None relevant.
3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Landscape Architect: (Initial Comments): Comment. Although there are no
landscape details being submitted at the application stage these can be conditioned if the
application is approved. However, from planting shown on the indicative street scene
provided we would like consideration to be given to the planting of taller species to screen
the retaining wall at the first level behind the proposed car parking spaces. Any issues
regarding existing trees and the proposed retaining wall to the new dwelling to the north,
will be commented on by the Tree Officer.

3.3

(Comments: Amended Plans): Comment. No additional comments to make. Please also
include a boundary treatment condition.

3.4

HDC Conservation: (Initial Comments): No Objection. The proposal for two dwellings on
the south side of the lane leading to Thakeham Place are sited to reinforce the ribbon type
development pattern of the hamlet. The proposed pair will be built outside a perceived
envelope of development in a part of the hamlet not developed before and this will result in
a conspicuous change to views from the bottom of The Street as the lane turns towards St
Mary’s church. The views out of the conservation area are important in understanding the
historic hamlet’s position in the landscape. Am satisfied that although the proposed houses
will be conspicuous in views to the south the houses will not prevent an appreciation or
dilute an understanding of this relationship between the hamlet and its rural setting.

Page 15

3.5

In terms of design, detailing and materials satisfied that in general the houses reflect an
acceptable interpretation of a domestic vernacular. This design approach is also illustrated
by New Cottages on the opposite side of the lane and a not unexpected design approach in
a historic rural settlement. There are two aspects of the design that still concern me
however. The first is the height of the retaining wall. Although it has been stepped to
provide a break and a planting area this is not sufficient to prevent it appearing as an
overpowering feature. This will be exacerbated by the need to place railings on top and
draw further attention to the overall height of the wall. It will be necessary to grade the land
behind to lower this part of the wall by a half of its height. If railings are still required then
these will be set against a backdrop of the bank rather than sky when looking up from the
lane. I note the comment that the design of the houses might more closely resemble Gate
Cottage in form. I appreciate the intent but experience suggests any attempt at simplifying
the design will result in a bland building reminiscent of mass produced housing. It is
important the houses have architectural interest. To this end the second area of concern is
the relationship of the gable verge with the eaves. It is important that this junction is
detailed to give prominence to either the gable or the principal roof slope. The verge should
either over sail the eaves and terminate independently or the eaves protrude beyond the
verge. This can be dealt with via condition. It will be important that the design is not diluted
and I have suggested some other conditions below to ensure a successful build.

3.6

Although the impact of the proposed houses on the character of the conservation area and
setting of the listed building will be perceptible this will not result in harm.

3.7

(Comments: Amended Plans): Comment. The amended scheme has alleviated concerns
regarding the perceptible scale and massing of the retaining wall. The lower overall height
of the brickwork and the slope of the garden will reduce the impact of this necessary
feature.

3.8

HDC Arboricultural Officer: (Initial Comments): Objection. The main consideration in
regard to trees is the position of the proposed driveway and retaining walls within the root
protection area (RPA) of the three trees indicated as T1, T2 and T3 on the tree retention
plan. T1 is an Ash and T2 and T3, both Beech. The trees are protected by virtue of their
position within in the Thakeham Conservation Area.

3.9

The recent removal of trees and ground vegetation in the immediate area has improved the
public amenity value of trees T2 and T3 (Category A) trees and T1 (Category B) tree, and
they are readily visible from the main public view point to the north on Crays Lane. T2 and
T3 in particular are considered to be an important feature of the Conservation Area, and
this is supported by their classification as category A trees. The position of T3 would place
a high percentage of its crown over the proposed parking area for the dwelling. This would
likely put it under pressure from any future residents in the form of surgery to abate general
tree related nuisances, such as, shading, leaf drop and bird droppings falling on to the
parked cars below.

3.10

The Preliminary Tree Protection Plan shows the two retaining walls to the north west of the
proposed dwellings are within close proximity to T1, T2 and T3. To the south east of T3
the wall is situated at a distance of around 2.5m and 4m from T2. To the south west of T1,
T2 and T3 the second wall is situated at a distance of roughly 2m from all three trees. All
three trees lie on a moderately steep slope south-westwards into the site, bases being
approximately 1m above that of the adjacent lane. The extent of the ground excavations
required within the RPA of the trees and within around 2m from their trunks, will result in
extensive root severance. The amount of root loss/damage that will result from the
excavations required to prepare this area for the erection of a retaining wall, will cause
much more severe damage and would act as an open door to tree decay pathogens thus
reducing the safe useful life expectancy (SULE) of the trees.

Page 16

3.11

To prevent the damage to the trees roots, the retaining walls and development would need
to be moved at least 4m to the south east of its current position. This would establish a
more harmonious relationship between proposed development and the trees. Moving the
development would push it further in to the RPA of T6, an Ash with a category C rating
indicated for retention. However, this tree is a poor quality specimen that is showing signs
of infection from Ash dieback. This tree has no real future potential and will likely require
removal in the not too distant future because of this; it’s loss would not have a detrimental
effect on the character and amenity of the Conservation Area.

3.12

(Comments: Amended Plans): No Objection. The main considerations as to the suitability
of this proposal, in regards to trees is the position of the development outside of the Root
Protection Areas (RPA) of the trees to be retained and the quality of the trees indicated for
removal.

3.13

The proposed site plan shows the parking area and the majority of the retaining wall which
is connected to the development on the north-west side of the site will be situated outside
of the Root Protection Area (RPA) of the trees in this area. These trees are situated in a
prominent position within the Thakeham Conservation Area and are consider to have a
good level of public amenity value. The retaining wall does encroach slightly into the RPA
of the southernmost tree, however, it is generally accepted that trees are able withstand a
small amount of ingress within the RPA without it having a detrimental effect on their
overall structural condition or health. The level of encroachment within the RPA indicated
on the plans is within the recommended limits and I consider this to be acceptable.

3.14

The trees indicated for removal are not rare nor do they have any special or particular
merit. Should the application be permitted I do not consider that the removal of these trees
will have an adverse effect on the character and amenities of the Conservation Area. I have
no objection to their removal.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.15

Ecology Consultant: No Objection. The site is also within the wider conservation area for
The Mens Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and the wider conservation area for
Ebernoe Common SAC. The LPA will need to prepare a Habitats Regulations Assessment
screening report for this application so any significant impacts e.g. lighting, or severance of
flightlines needs to be assessed for impacts on Barbastelle bats. We note that the
development will not affect any of the sensitive features/threats to the Habitats sites within
scope or the associated Annex II bat species. We therefore advise the LPA that, without
mitigation, the development is not likely to result in a ‘likely significant effect’ (LSE) to The
Mens SAC, Ebernoe Common SAC or Arun Valley SAC, SPA and Ramsar site. Therefore,
there is no need to proceed to HRA Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment.

3.16

The proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements which have been recommended to
secure measurable net gains for biodiversity are supported. Conditions are recommended
to secure implementation of these enhancements and the approval of a Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy and Wildlife Sensitive Lighting Scheme.

3.17

WSCC Highways: Comment. Given the direct access alignment arrangements onto The
Street from the private access road, there are no concerns regarding the use of this
junction by an additional two dwellings.

3.18

The Planning Authority may wish to consider consulting with WSCC Public Rights of way
over the impact this proposal may have on the Public Right of Way, Bridle Way. Given the
status as a public right of way it would be beneficial if 2 x 2 pedestrian visibility splays were
provided either side of the access points onto the Public Rights of Way.

Page 17

3.19

The two off-street car parking spaces would meet the minimum anticipated demand for
dwellings of this size in this location. Electric Vehicle Charging Points and Cycle storage
should be secured by conditions.

3.20

WSSC Public Rights of Way: No comment received. Any subsequent comments will be
reported verbally at the Committee Meeting.

3.21

Southern Water: Comment. The impact of any works within the highway/access road on
public apparatus shall be assessed and approved, in consultation with Southern Water.
Southern Water requires a formal connection to the public foul sewer.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.22

Thakeham Parish Council: (Initial Comments): Strong Objection:







3.23

Thakeham Parish Council: (Comments: Amended Plans): Strong Objection:




3.24

Would not meet the expectations around developments in Conservation Areas relating
to ‘improving or enhancing the character and appearance of the Conservation Area’.
Will infill up to the edge of the Conservation Area
Impact on views into and outside of the Conservation Area, causing substantial harm,
particularly in relation to rural views to the south and from the listed buildings to the
north.
Substantial visual harm caused by topography changes and dominant retaining walls
intruding into the view from the Street/Crays Lane junction, and other points along the
right of way.
Visual impact of vehicles parked to the side of the dwelling will change the character of
those views from rural to suburban.
Impact on existing trees
Design of dwelling should more sympathetic to Gate Cottage as the adjacent heritage
asset.

Would materially impact on views out of the Conservation Area from the junction of The
Street and Crays Lane, and into the Conservation Area from the south.
Introducing built form at this location creates the potential for ‘substantial harm’ to the
Conservation Area and its green setting.
Adding two further open-market houses does not provide any 'clear and sustained
community benefit' to outweigh the harm identified.
Should approval be considered then conditions to mitigate against the concerns raised
should be included (additional planted screening around the houses, external
finishes/materials to be in muted colours and external lighting plan to minimise light
pollution.)

Two letters of objection have been received from two separate households. The comments
made are summarised below:








Fails to preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area.
Harms key views within the Conservation Area.
Retaining walls are conspicuous.
Intrusion on the heritage landscape at a location in the conservation area where tourists
to the village, particularly groups of ramblers, stop, to read the heritage plaque and
admire the views.
Parked vehicles would appear prominent from road.
Loss of trees.
There is no community benefit to outweigh harm to Conservation Area.

Page 18

3.25

One letter of support has been received, the comments made are summarised below:




Will provide potential housing for workers at the nearby farm.
Design suits the high-sided character of The Street as it extends into the farm.
Will provide nice living space without affecting the view from the footpath behind.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENT
Principle

6.1

Policy 3 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) states that development will
be permitted within towns and villages which have defined built up areas. Any infilling will
be required to demonstrate that it is of appropriate nature and scale to maintain
characteristics and function of the settlement, in accordance with the settlement hierarchy.

6.2

The application site lies within the built up area of Thakeham, which is categorised as a
‘smaller village’ within policy 3 of the HDPF. These are villages with a limited services,
facilities, social networks but with good accessibility to larger settlements. Residents are
reliant on larger settlements to access most of their requirements.

6.3

Given the location of the site within the built up area, it is considered that the principal of
infill development would be acceptable subject to other material considerations as outlined
in the following sections of this report. The site is sited at the southern end of the built up
area boundary of Thakeham, close to existing residential development comprising, Gate
Cottage, located 29 metres to the south, and 1 and 2 New Cottages, located 10 metres to
the west of the application site. Whilst it is noted that are a number of issues to be carefully
considered, Officers are of the view that the site comprises a logical location, close to
existing residential development and capable of accommodating a level of residential infill
development.
Heritage & Visual Impacts

6.4

Paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that when
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its
significance.

6.5

Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as
amended), sets out the general duties of planning authorities in respect of Conservation
Areas, stating that ‘special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance of that area.'

Page 19

6.6

Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) promotes
development that is of a high quality design, which is sympathetic to the character and
distinctiveness of the site and surroundings. Policy 34 of the HDPF states that development
should reinforce the special character of the historic environment through appropriate
siting, scale, form and design; and should make a positive contribution to the character and
distinctiveness of the area. Proposals should preserve and ensure clear legibility of locally
distinctive vernacular building forms and their settings, features, fabric and materials.

6.7

Policy Thakeham 6 of the Thakeham Neighbourhood Plan states that the scale, density,
massing, height, landscape design, layout and materials of all development proposals.
Policy Thakeham 7 of the Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals within
the designated Thakeham conservation area will be supported provided that any harm to
the historic significance of the conservation area and its setting will be less than
substantial; and that any such harm is outweighed by the provision of a clear and sustained
community benefit. This policy also requires that they preserve the special contribution of
the rural character of heritage assets to their special interest including the green setting of
the conservation area.

6.8

The application site is located at the southern end of the built up area boundary and the
southern end of the Thakeham conservation area. The site comprises a grassed area of
land including a steep bank with a number of tall trees. Gate Cottage, a Grade II Listed
Building, is located 29 metres to the south, and 1 and 2 New Cottages, located 10 metres
to the west of the application site. Gate Cottage, similar to other properties within The
Street is set into the bank with the rear garden to the west located parallel to the first floor
level of the dwelling house. The area to the south and west of the site becomes more rural
in character and appearance. Views of the more open landscape to the south are partly
restricted from the access road to the east of the site due to the slight bend in the road and
the trees screening within the site which provide an attractive green vista along this
western side of the access road. To the west, the site is currently well screened from the
elevated grassed fields by the tree screen along the western boundary of the application
site.

6.9

Part of the unique character of Thakeham’s historic core comprises its constrained
topography, formed of steep banks either side of the ancient route way. The Street likely
predates the hamlet and individual buildings appeared over time beside the lane as people
began to settle in marginal agricultural areas in the sixteenth century. The building types
and materials reflect the availability of local timber and sandstone at this time. Like many
settlements of this size there is little perceptible additional development until the midtwentieth century and despite this the hamlet retains its historic character. Any new
development within the hamlet should respect that character and reinforce it where
possible.

6.10

The proposed pair of semi-detached dwellings would be located within the built up area yet
outside a perceived envelope of development in a part of the hamlet not previously
developed. The proposed development would comprise two modest 2 bedroom dwellings
each with a floor area of 112 square metres and a total ridge height of 7.9 metres. The
dwellings would be orientated to the east, with a combined width of 19.9 metres and would
sit 1 metre higher than the access road and public right of way level to the east. A set of
steps would provide pedestrian access to the front of each property with a low brick wall
and railings along the sites eastern frontage. Two sets of tandem parking spaces would be
provided to the north and south of the development. Retaining brick walls measuring 0.5
metres in height are proposed immediately to the north and south of the tandem parking
spaces and also to the south (rear) of the parking spaces. The walls to the south of the
parking spaces which would be set on a bank which would be elevated 1.2 metres in
comparison to the road level.

Page 20

6.11

The proposed development would be particularly visible within the conservation area when
viewed from the southern end of The Street where this turns into a private access track and
public right of way. The new built form in an area which currently comprises a grassed tree
lined bank would alter the appearance of this southern end of the conservation area. The
Council’s Conservation Officer has commented that the proposed development of two
dwellings would result in a conspicuous change to views from the bottom of The Street as
the lane turns towards St Mary’s Church. He however also advises that the positioning of
the dwellings adjacent to the western side of the lane would remain in keeping with the
ribbon type development pattern of the hamlet. The dwellings would be positioned close to
the road to the east and be set into the bank similar to the existing arrangement with Gate
Cottage and other nearby properties. The development reflects a pattern of development
that has evolved in the past to create the current character of residential development
along this ancient route way within a short distance from the village core. The proposed
development would therefore reinforce the historic pattern and evolvement of development
that has extended in ribbon form along The Street. Whilst the impact of the proposed
houses on the conservation area and setting of the listed building would be perceptible, the
Council’s Conservation Officer is satisfied that the development would not result in any
harm to the character and appearance of the conservation area or the setting of the listed
building to the north, Gate Cottage.

6.12

The proposed semi-detached dwellings have a simple cottage design with pitched roofs
and pitched roof gable features to the front eastern elevations. The Council’s Conservation
Officer has confirmed that the design, detailing and materials of the houses reflect an
acceptable interpretation of a domestic vernacular. The design approach is also illustrated
by New Cottages on the eastern side of the lane and a not unexpected design approach in
a historic rural settlement. Detailed pre-app discussions have taken place with Planning
Officers and the Council’s Conservation Officer who recommended that frontages to
properties should reflect other cottages in The Street and open directly onto the lane
without the need for a service road or parking to the front of properties. The parking serving
each dwelling has been positioned to the side of each dwelling in a tandem arrangement,
reducing the visual impact of parking on the Conservation Area and allowing for a small
front garden area serving each property. This arrangement would replicate a similar
arrangement to other nearby residential properties. The location, form, and appearance of
the proposed development would therefore retain the overall character and appearance of
existing residential development within the Conservation Area.

6.13

The amended plans submitted show a reduction in the height of the brick retaining walls to
the west of the car parking spaces from 1.6 metres to 0.5 metres in height in response to
the Council’s Conservation Officers concerns regarding their height and visual prominence
within the Conservation Area. The lower overall height of the brick retaining walls and the
slope of the garden would reduce the impact of these features on the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area.

6.14

The proposal would retain the significant trees within the conservation area comprising the
two Beech trees and one Ash tree at the northern end of the site which contribute to the
green and natural character of this part of the conservation area when viewed from the
southern end of The Street at the junction with Crays Lane. The submitted site plan shows
some indicative planting to the south of the development which would assist in softening
the appearance of the development when viewed from the more rural aspect to the south.
The retained trees and proposed landscaping, which will be secured by condition, would
provide some green screening of the proposed development from important views within
the Conservation Area comprising those at the southern end of The Street and from the
more rural aspect to the south.

6.15

It is acknowledged that the proposed development would have some impact on the
character and appearance of this undeveloped site located within the built up area. Officers
are of the view that whilst this would result in visual changes to the site, this would not be

Page 21

harmful to the overall character and appearance of the conservation area. The proposed
dwellings would be appropriately positioned close to other similar residential development,
mimicking the ribbon form and historic evolvement of development along The Street to the
north. The pair of dwellings are considered to be modestly proportioned and of appropriate
design and vernacular that would respect the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area. Trees of visual importance within the conservation area in the northern
part of the site have been retained and further landscaping, to be secured by condition,
would soften the development when viewed from the more rural aspects to the south and
west. The proposed development is therefore considered to comply with the requirements
of the NPPF, policies 32, 33 and 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework and
Policies Thakeham 6 and Thakeham 7 of the Neighbourhood Plan.
Landscape
6.16

Policy 25 of the HDPF states that the natural environment and landscape character of the
District, including the landscape, landform and development pattern, together with
protected landscapes and habitats will be protected against inappropriate development.
The Council will support development proposals which protects, conserves and enhances
the landscape and townscape character, taking into account areas identified as being of
landscape importance, the individual settlement characteristics, and maintains settlement
separation.

6.17

Policy Thakeham 10 states that development proposals will be supported, provided they
protect and retain and, wherever possible, enhance the following green infrastructure and
valued landscape features of the Parish which comprise a list including sunken lanes,
prominent ridges, public rights of way and their settings, and land designated for nature
conservation.

6.18

The proposal would involve some earthworks and changes to the existing topography of
the site which currently incorporates a steep bank lined with trees. The proposed dwellings
would be set into the bank, with the first floor rear level of the dwellings sitting
approximately level with the elevated grassed fields adjacent to the site to the west. At
present the view of the site from the fields to the west and public right of way to the southwest comprises a screen of trees with a post and wire fence along the western boundary of
the site. Some views of the roofs of New Cottages and Cumberland House are possible
from this vantage point between the gaps in the tree screen. The proposal would involve
the removal of seven trees and one group of trees on the site. Due to differing topography
levels of the site and surrounding land, only the first floor levels of the proposed dwellings
would be visible from the raised grassed fields to the west and public right of way to the
south-west. The proposed ground levels show that the rear gardens serving would be
graduated down in an easterly direction towards the dwellings.

6.19

No proposed landscaping scheme has been submitted with this application, however the
proposed site plan shows some indicative planting. The plan shows some bramble hedging
and a 1 metre high post and along the western boundary of the site which would provide
some screening of the development to the west. It is however, considered that there is
scope for additional planting to the western and southern boundaries of the site and also
within the rear gardens to soften the appearance of the built form when viewed from the
public right of ways and landscape to the south and west. The Council’s Landscape Officer
has recommended including some taller planted species to provide soft screening of the
proposed retaining brick walls behind the proposed car parking spaces. The Agent has
agreed to a landscaping condition which will require details of all soft and hard landscaping
to be submitted, along with details of all boundary treatments.

6.20

The proposed development would be perceivable from the landscape and public right of
ways to the south and east of the site. However, it is considered that the retention of the
significant trees within the Conservation Area and additional landscaping to the west and

Page 22

south of the development would adequately mitigate any harmful visual impacts of the
development when viewed from the wider rural landscape and public right of ways to the
west and south.
Trees
6.21

Policy 34 of the HDPF requires developments to retain and improve the setting of heritage
assets, including views, public rights of way, trees and landscape features, including
historic public realm features. Policy 33 of the HDPF requires presumption in favour of the
retention of existing important landscape and natural features, for examples trees and
hedges. Policy Thakeham 6 of the Thakeham Neighbourhood Plan states that development
should retain established healthy trees.

6.22

An Arboricultural Assessment, Outline Method Statement and Tree Retention Plan has
been submitted with this application. The Assessment confirms that there are seven
individual trees and one group proposed for removal to facilitate the proposed
development. These trees fall within Category C which comprise trees of low quality with
an estimated life expectancy of at least 10 years or less. The Council’s Arboricultural
Officer has confirmed that these trees are not rare and do they have any special or
particular merit. He has raised no objection to their removal and considers that this would
not have an adverse effect on the character and amenities of the Conservation Area.

6.23

It is proposed to retain one Ash tree (T1) and two Beech trees (T2 and T3) to the north of
the proposed dwellings. The Ash tree comprises a Category B tree and the Beech trees
comprise Category A trees. Category A trees are described as trees of high quality with an
estimated life expectancy of at least 40 years. Category B trees are described as trees as
moderate quality with an estimated remaining life expectancy of at least 20 years. The
Council’s Arboricultural Officer considers these Ash and Beech trees to be important
features of visual amenity within the Conservation Area. These trees are large attractive
specimens which contribute to public amenity and the green character of the Conservation
Area, particularly when viewed at the junction of The Street and Crays Lane. The original
plans submitted showed that one of the Beech trees would have a high percentage of its
crown overhanging the parking spaces serving the northernmost proposed dwelling.
Concerns were raised by the Council’s Arboricultural Officer regarding the future resident
pressure for works to this tree given its position. Concern was also raised in relation to the
encroachment of the proposed retaining walls to the north and west of the northernmost
dwelling into the root protection areas of the three trees and the likely root severance this
would cause to the tree roots.

6.24

Amended plans have been submitted following the Arboricultural Officer’s advice which
show that the retaining walls and dwellings have been repositioned four metres further to
the south. The amended plans show that the parking area and the majority of the northwesterly retaining wall would be situated outside of the root protection area of the Beech
trees and the Ash tree. The retaining wall encroaches slightly into the root protection area
of the southernmost Beech tree, however, the Council’s Arboricultural Officer considers
that this is acceptable as the trees will be able to withstand a small amount of ingress
within the root protection area without it having a detrimental effect on their overall
structural condition or health.

6.25

The amended plans ensure the continued health and preservation of the Ash tree and
Beech trees to the north of the proposed development, retaining the green character and
appearance of the Conservation Area. This movement of the development further south
has also established a more harmonious relationship and spacing between proposed
development and the important trees to the north. The proposal therefore complies with the
requirements of policies 33 and 34 of the HDPF and policy Thakeham 6 of the
Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 23

Amenity
6.26

Policy 33 of the HDPF states that development should consider the scale, massing and
orientation between buildings, respecting the amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring
properties.

6.27

The closest residential properties to the development are located 8.4 metres to the east,
comprising 1 and 2 New Cottages and 25 metres to the north, comprising Gate Cottage.
Given the separation distance from Gate Cottage, there are no concerns regarding any
loss of amenity between the occupiers of the neighbouring dwelling and the future
occupiers of the proposed dwellings. To the east, the proposed dwellings would be
separated to the front windows serving 2 New Cottages by the access road and it is not
considered that there would be any loss of privacy or overbearing caused to the
neighbouring occupiers of this property.
Highways & Parking

6.28

Policy 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate access,
suitable for all users.

6.29

The proposed dwellings would have a side driveway each capable of parking two cars
which would gain access from the private access road and public right of way to the west of
the site. Access to the wider highway network is then gained via the natural termination
point of The Street, at the junction of Crays Lane. The County Council Highways Authority
have confirmed that given the direct access alignment arrangements onto The Street there
are no concerns with the use of this junction serving the two additional proposed dwellings.

6.30

The proposal would comprise four parking spaces in total, two spaces for each two
bedroom dwelling. This would meet the anticipated parking demand for dwellings of this
size in this location. It is noted that there is limited provision for any on-street parking within
the surrounding area. It is however not anticipated that the proposed development would
result in any overspill on-street parking given the parking provision proposed for each
dwelling.

6.31

The Highways Authority have also recommended that the County Council Public Rights of
Ways Officer be consulted in relation to any impacts of the development on the public right
of way to the east. No comments have been received by the County Council Public Rights
of Way Officer at the time of writing this report. Any comments subsequently received will
be reported at the Committee Meeting.
Ecology

6.32

Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework states that development proposals
will be required to contribute to the enhancement of existing biodiversity, and should create
and manage new habitats where appropriate. The Council will support new development
which retains and/or enhances significant features of nature conservation on development
sites. The Council will also support development which makes a positive contribution to
biodiversity through the creation of green spaces, and linkages between habitats to create
local and regional ecological networks. Particular consideration will be given to the
hierarchy of sites and habitats in the district which includes the Special Protection Area
(SPA) and Special Areas of Conservation (SAC).

6.33

The site is also within the wider conservation area for The Mens Special Area of
Conservation (SAC) and the wider conservation area for Ebernoe Common SAC. The site
is described as comprising short species poor grassland, a bare earth bank, a line of trees
and some shrub planting and tree planting on the upper bank. A Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal has been submitted with this application which states that the development would

Page 24

not affect any sensitive features or threats to the habitats sites, including any bat roosts.
The majority of the trees proposed for removal were found to have negligible bat roosting
potential features and one Beech tree to be removed was considered to have low potential
to support roosting bats.
6.34

The Council’s Ecology Consultant has confirmed that without mitigation, the proposed
development is not likely to result in a ‘likely significant effect’ to The Mens SAC, Ebernoe
Common SAC or Arun Valley SAC, SPA and Ramsar site. It has therefore been confirmed
that there is no need to proceed to Habitats Regulations Assessment Stage 2 Assessment.

6.35

The Ecology Report recommends some biodiversity enhancement measures which
comprise installation of insect boxes, native planting and a sensitive lighting scheme.
Conditions will be included, as per the Council’s Ecology Consultant recommendation, to
secure the mitigation and enhancement measures set out in the Ecology Report and to
require the approval of a biodiversity enhancement strategy and wildlife sensitive lighting
scheme.
Climate Change

6.36

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. The proposed development
includes the following measures to build resilience to climate change and reduce carbon
emissions:


6.37

In addition to these measures conditions are attached to secure the following:






6.38

Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures

Water consumption limited to 110 litres per person per day
Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
Refuse and recycling storage
Cycle parking facilities
Electric vehicle charging points

Subject to these conditions the application will suitable reduce the impact of the
development on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Conclusion

6.39

In conclusion, it has been established that the site is located within the built up area, close
to existing residential development and within a sustainable location capable of
accommodating a level of residential infill development. The site occupies a sensitive
location, within the setting of Grade II listed buildings, the Thakeham Conservation Area
and with constrained topography.

6.40

Within this assessment, it has been acknowledged that the proposed development would
have some impact on the character and appearance of this undeveloped site located within
the built up area. Officers conclude that whilst this would result in visual changes to the
site, this would not be harmful to the overall character and appearance of the conservation
area or the setting of the listed building. The proposed dwellings would be appropriately
positioned close to other similar residential development, mimicking the ribbon form and
historic evolvement of development along The Street further to the north of the site. The

Page 25

pair of dwellings are considered to be modestly proportioned and of appropriate design and
vernacular that would respect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.
6.41

Trees of visual importance within the conservation area in the northern part of the site have
been retained and further landscaping, to be secured by condition, would soften the
development when viewed from the more rural aspects to the south and west. The
proposal would also not have an adverse impact on the wider landscape, ecology,
neighbouring amenity or highway safety. The proposed development is therefore
considered to comply with the requirements of the NPPF, the Horsham District Planning
Framework and the Thakeham Neighbourhood Plan. The application is therefore
recommended for approval subject to the conditions listed in section 7 of this report.
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Zone 1

225

Existing

Net Gain

0

225

Total Gain

225

Total Demolition

0

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.
In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.
7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

That planning permission be approved subject to the following conditions:1. List of the approved plans and documents.
2. Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
3. Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage
strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
drained and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
4. Pre-Commencement Condition: No relevant works shall commence until the following
details have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The works must not be executed other than in complete accordance with
these approved details:

Page 26

a) Drawings to a scale not smaller than 1:5 fully describing:
i)

Roof details including sections through:
 roof ridge
 valleys
 eaves
 verges

ii) Chimneys
iii) Steps
iv) Balustrades and railings
b) Samples or specifications of all external materials and surface finishes.
c) A sample panel of masonry, not less than 0.8 sq.m, constructed on site. Before any
further masonry is undertaken, the panel must be inspected and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. All masonry must be executed in accordance with
the sample panel, which shall remain on site until the works are complete and the
condition discharged.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the significance of the designated
heritage asset, and the character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not
prejudiced, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses, and to comply with Policy 34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
5.

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any
works of demolition, until the following construction site set-up details have been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)
vi)

the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
loading and unloading of plant and materials;
storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
the erection and maintenance of any security hoarding;
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works;
delivery, demolition and construction working hours.

The approved details shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in order to consider the potential impacts on the
amenity of nearby occupiers during construction and in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
6. Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The content of the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
Detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
Locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
Persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).

Page 27

The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
7. Pre-Occupation Condition: The proposed development hereby permitted shall not be
occupied until full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall have been
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall
include plans and measures addressing the following:









Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
A written outline soft specification, including ground preparation, cultivation and
other operations associated with plant and grass establishment
Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
Details of all boundary treatments
Sections of the retaining wall and junction with natural ground
Details of landscape responsibilities and a landscape management plan
Ecological enhancement measures as set out in the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal (The Ecology Partnership – September 2020)

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any
part of the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping,
no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed,
topped or lopped without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority
until 5 years after completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within
a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall
be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
8. Pre-Occupation Condition: The proposed development hereby permitted shall not be
occupied until a lighting design scheme for biodiversity has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall identify those
features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause
disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external
lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate lighting contour plans, lsolux
drawings and technical specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas
to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory. All external lighting shall be
installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set out in the scheme and
maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme. Under no circumstances should
any other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as
amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)

Page 28

9.

Pre-Occupation Condition: The proposed development hereby permitted shall not be
occupied until a scheme for the provision of electrical vehicle charging points has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall
have regard to the requirements for electric vehicle charging within the latest West
Sussex Parking Standards (2019). The approved scheme shall be installed prior to first
occupation of the dwellings and shall thereafter remain as such.
Reason: To provide electric vehicle car charging space for the use in accordance with
Policies 35 and 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and the WSCC
Parking Standards (2019).

10. Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be first occupied unless
and until provision for the storage of refuse/recycling has been made for that building in
accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. These facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of recycling facilities in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
12. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, details of secure [and covered] cycle parking facilities for the occupants
of, and visitors to, the development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied or use
hereby permitted commenced until the approved cycle parking facilities associated with
that dwelling or use have been fully implemented and made available for use. The
provision for cycle parking shall thereafter be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
13. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby
permitted, the car parking facilities necessary to serve the dwellings shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details as shown on Drawing No. 1894
2110 Rev B and shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to serve
the development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
14. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling, the necessary
in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to enable
superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre broadband
connection shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers
in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
15. Regulatory Condition: The new windows hereby permitted shall have casements flush
fitted with their frames if manufactured in timber or plastic.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the designated heritage asset, and the
character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not prejudiced, thereby preserving
the special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and to comply with Policy
34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
16. Regulatory Condition: The roof lights hereby permitted shall be metal framed and sit
flush with the roof slope.

Page 29

Reason: To ensure that the significance of the designated heritage asset, and the
character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not prejudiced, thereby preserving
the special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and to comply with Policy
34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
17. Regulatory Condition: All new and replacement rainwater goods shall be cast iron or
cast aluminium or cast effect plastic.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the designated heritage asset, and the
character, appearance and integrity of the building, is not prejudiced, thereby preserving
the special architectural or historic interest which it possesses, and to comply with Policy
34 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
18. Regulatory Condition: All ecological mitigation & enhancement measures and/or
works shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained within the
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (The Ecology Partnership – September 2020)
as submitted with the application and agreed in principle with the local planning
authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an
ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be
carried out, in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017
(as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended, s40 of the NERC Act
2006 (Priority habitats & species), s17 Crime & Disorder Act 1998 and Policy 31 of the
Horsham Development Framework (2015).
19. Regulatory Condition: All works shall be executed in full accordance with the submitted
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Outline Method Statement dated 26th November
2020 and the Preliminary Tree Protection Plan (Drawing No. NJCL 772_02_261120).
Reason: To ensure the successful and satisfactory protection of important trees, shrubs
and hedges on the site in accordance with Policies 30 and 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
20. Regulatory Condition: The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall meet the optional
requirement of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110
litres per person per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall
thereafter be retained.
Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
21 Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (and/or any Order
revoking and/or re-enacting that Order no development falling within Classes A, D and E
of Part 1 of Schedule 2 (amend classes and schedule as necessary) of the order shall
be erected, constructed or placed within the curtilage(s) of the development hereby
permitted without express planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being
obtained.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of nearby residents in accordance with policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 30

22.

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/20/1788

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

05) DC/20/1788
Land at Gate Cottage, The Street, Thakeham, RH20 3EP
Tir
o

lH

ou

¯

h

se

t
For Business use only - not for distribution
Pa to the general public

Copper
Beeches

Cumberland
House
Staddle-Stone

Church
House

Church
View
49.2m
LB

New
Cottages
1

Gate
Cottage

2

CG

Tra
ck

Pump House

Thakeham Place
Cottage

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

25/02/2021

Page 33MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

9 March 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Demolition of existing structure and construction of a new 1 bedroom
dwelling with ancillary vehicle parking within the curtilage of the site.

SITE:

Land Adjacent To St. Anne's Hyde Street Upper Beeding West Sussex

WARD:

Bramber, Upper Beeding and Woodmancote

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2184

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr Simon Stringer Address: Newbrook Farmhouse Manor Road
Smugglers Lane Upper Beeding BN44 3TJ

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: By request of Upper Beeding Parish Council
RECOMMENDATION:
1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
Application Description:

1.1

Planning permission is sought for the demolition of an existing two-storey domestic garage
and workshop and the erection of a single one-bedroom detached dwelling.

1.2

The proposed dwelling would be provided to a single-storey, being constructed to a depth
of 7.7m and width of 6.3m. The dwelling would feature a half-hipped roof, erected to a total
height of 5.8m and eave height of 3m, with first-floor accommodation provided within the
roof-slope.

1.3

The proposed dwelling would be positioned centrally within the application site, occupying
a footprint further forward (relative to Hyde Street) than the existing garage. Private
amenity spaces would be provided to rear, with parking/turning spaces provided forward of
the dwellings principal elevation.
Site Description:

1.4

This application relates to land east of Hyde Street and concerns land formerly constituent
of the garden area of No.5 Maines Road (found to the rear of the application site).

1.5

The site is located adjacent to an operational sub-station at the southern end of a group of
three dwellings. The site possesses a notable change in levels and exaggerated
topography, with land rising steeply to the north-east and east of the existing garage. In
order to accommodate the proposed dwelling, and associated parking/turning areas, the

Contact Officer: Giles Holbrook

Page 35

Tel: 01403 215436

applicant has undertaken preparatory clearance of vegetation and cutting of the former
embankment at the eastern extent of the site.
1.6

The application site falls within the defined-built up area of Upper Beeding, and is located a
short distance (~27m) north-west of the boundary of the South Downs National Park. The
Hyde Street Conservation Area is found ~31m north-west of the application site, with the
Grade II Listed Building of ‘Old House’ sited ~56m north-west of the site. The site itself
contains no heritage, ecological, environmental or landscape designations.

1.7

The application site has been made subject of three preceding planning applications for
residential development. The preceding application (ref: DC/20/1556) was withdrawn prior
to determination with the Local Planning Authority previously resolving to refuse planning
permission in respect of ref: DC/20/0472 and ref: DC/19/2074 (which was subsequently
dismissed at appeal). The reasons for refusal stated in connection with refs: DC/20/0472
and DC/19/2074 were:1. The proposed development, by reason of its siting, mass and scale, and its
relationship with site boundaries, together with the pattern and character of the
surrounding development, would represent an unduly cramped and unsympathetic
form of development which would be harmfully out of keeping with the prevailing
character of the locality. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies 32 and 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and guidance as set out at Section 12 of
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).
2. It has not been demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority that
the proposed development, by virtue of its landscape design and associated boundary
treatments, would preclude the possibility of unacceptable harm to the amenities of
neighbouring occupiers in terms of an enhanced sense of enclosure, loss of light
and/or privacy, contrary to Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

1.8

1.9

A subsequent appeal in relation to application DC/19/2074 was dismissed, with the
Inspector stating:

“The differing orientation of the proposed dwelling to St Anne’s and its location at a
bend in Hyde Street mean that the front extension and marked increase in the bulk of
the development would be readily visible in the street scene. While the set back of the
building from the street would be broadly comparable to that of the neighbour at St
Anne’s, it would therefore be prominent.”



“The dwelling would be seen from Hyde Street as filling the majority of the width of the
rear part of the plot. The building would also be set fairly close to the front and rear plot
boundaries, and together with the increased scale of the building and the unusually
tight relationship with the boundaries to both sides, this would result in the dwelling
appearing cramped on the site.”



“Given the existing height difference between the sites, the resulting increase in the
height of the boundary treatment would be a highly dominant feature from the
perspective of occupiers of St Anne’s. It would also be likely to cause a loss of daylight
and sunlight, particularly during the early part of the day. Together with the resulting
significant sense of enclosure, these factors would adversely affect the use and
enjoyment of the neighbouring garden causing harm to the living conditions of the
occupiers of St Anne’s.”

A copy of this appeal decision (in full) is appended to this report)

Page 36

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 30 - Protected Landscapes
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 39 - Strategic Policy: Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
West Sussex Joint Minerals Local Plan (2018)
Policy M9 - Safeguarding Minerals
Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD (2017)
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2017)
Upper Beeding Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031 (2020) (Submission Plan)

2.1

The Upper Beeding Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2014-2031 (2018) has recently been
reviewed at independent examination, and was found to be sound (subject to modifications)
as confirmed by the examiner’s report of 09.12.2019. The Local Planning Authority, with the
consent of the Parish Council, has accepted all recommended modifications to the
Neighbourhood Plan and resolved to proceed to public referendum on 19.03.2020.

2.2

As a result of the Authority’s response to Covid-19 the Authority and Parish Council have
agreed to postpone the scheduled referendum to a date that is practicable and safe in the
interests of public health. Notwithstanding this delay, it is considered that the relevant policies
of the Upper Beeding Parish Neighbourhood Plan (2014-2031), as modified at examination,
are at an advanced stage and carry significant weight in the determination of this application.
Relevant policies of the emerging Neighbourhood Plan are listed below:
Policy 1 – Spatial Plan for the Parish
Policy 8 – Design Standards for New Development

Page 37

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/20/1556

DC/20/0472

DC/19/2074

Demolition of existing double garage with workshop
above and the erection of a detached chaletbungalow, together with associated parking and
landscaping
Change of use of existing building to two storey
dwelling with associated parking

Withdrawn Application on
13.10.2020

Change of use of existing building to a 2-bedroom
dwelling with associated parking and erection of a
two storey front extension

Application Refused on
05.02.2020

Application Refused on
28.07.2020

Appeal Dismissed on
24.06.2020

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
WSCC – Highways: No objection, subject to conditions.

3.2

The Local Highways Authority (LHA) considered that the proposal would not unacceptably
influence highway safety or result in a severe impact to the operation of the public highway
network. The LHA officer noted the absence of recorded injury accidents in the preceding
5-year period as a consequence of existing road geometry or existing access arrangement,
with vehicles, further, not anticipated to be travelling at the posted 30mph limit in this
location.

3.3

Conditions are recommended to secure the delivery of proposed vehicular and cycleparking facilities, in addition to the provision of electric-vehicle charging facilities.
Southern Water: No objection

Upper Beeding Parish Council: Objection:3.4

The Parish Council responded to object to the proposal. While the reduction in scale (in
relation to preceding proposals) was noted, the proposal was considered to represent a
form of overdevelopment. The siting of the proposed dwelling was considered to result in
an adverse effect upon the street scene by virtue of its proposed positioning forward of the
existing garage building. The Parish Council, further, considered that the gradient of land
would render the driveway unusable.
Public Representations:

3.5

7 letters of representation, from 4 independent addresses, were received in connection with
this application, of which 6 sought to raise material comments in objection to the proposal,
and 1 sought to raise material comments in support of the proposal.
The main material grounds for objection can be summarised as:-

Concerns regarding loss of privacy, and/or natural light, regarding the use of the ‘toplevel’ garden as an amenity space and with associated planting;
Concerns regarding the design quality of the proposed dwelling, associated landscape
design and its prominence within the context of its surroundings;

Page 38

-

-

Concerns regarding effects on surface-water drainage arising from a regrading of the
top-level garden;
Concerns regarding the effects of development on highway safety and operation, with
regard to road-layout and the proximity of the proposed access to Henfield Road;
Concerns regarding the effects of on-street parking on highway safety and operation,
with regard to the provision of a single parking space and cumulative effect together
with nearby development;
Concerns regarding noise-disturbance resulting from potential air-conditioning;
The proposed use of materials is not in-keeping with the red-brick composition of
surrounding properties;
The poor condition of the existing site is a consequence of preparatory works
undertaken without planning permission;
Concerns regarding the stability of surrounding embankments;
The proposals would adversely influence the rights of adjacent occupiers to a private a
family life;
Concerns regarding the effects of preparatory works on ecology and arboriculture;

Material comments in support of the proposal can be summarised as:-

The existing garage has always appeared distinctly out of place;
The proposals would replace the eyesore currently in place;

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of Development:

6.1

The application site is located within the defined built-up area of Upper Beeding and in a
location accessible to local services and amenities. The proposal, which involves the
provision of a single dwelling, would not undermine the settlement characteristics of Upper
Beeding, or the status of this settlement as a ‘small town/larger village’. The proposal,
therefore, is consistent with the spatial strategy and hierarchy approach of the development
plan as set out at HDPF policies 2 and 3, in addition to policy 1 of the emerging UBNP, which
inter alia seek to promote development within defined built-up areas. The principle of
residential development of the scale proposed in this location, therefore, is acceptable,
subject to assessment in all other material regards.

Character, Design and Appearance:
6.2

Policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF stipulate that new development should be of a high standard
of design and layout, with regard to natural and built surroundings, in terms of its scale,

Page 39

density, massing, siting, orientation, views, character, materials and space between
buildings.
6.3

Policy 8 of the Submission UBNP provides that the scale, density, massing, height,
landscape design, layout and materials of all proposed development, will be required to
reflect the design and characteristics of surrounding buildings. Policy 8, further, affords
support to development that promotes individuality in appearance whilst retaining character
and vernacular reflective of the low-rise character of the parish, and the use of materials that
reinforce the character and distinctiveness of the local environment.

6.4

This application follows three preceding applications for a single dwelling at the application
site. Both previously determined applications (refs: DC/19/2074 and DC/20/0472), were
refused on grounds related to the detrimental effects of development of the scale and
proposed on local character and appearance. In resolving to dismiss a planning appeal
subsequent to ref: DC/19/2074, the Inspector reasoned at paragraphs 8-10 of the attached
decision that a dwelling of the previously proposed scale would represent a cramped form of
development, by virtue of its scale and relationship with the site perimeter that would fail to
improve over the condition of the existing site.

6.5

The proposal currently before the Authority represents a significant reduction in terms of
footprint, bulk and massing relative to these previous applications. This is particularly evident
in terms of the reduced depth of the dwelling now proposed and its better self-contained
form. Contrary to both previously determined applications (refs: DC/19/2074 and
DC/20/0472), the proposal does not seek to adapt or incorporate the existing garage
structure for residential use in conjunction with various extensions, while further omitting roofextensions in the form of dormers/false-gables which previously contributed to the bulk of
preceding proposals.

6.7

The proposed dwelling is modestly proportioned with the half-hipped form of the dwelling
acting to limit the length of the ridge (which would extend to 6.3m). The proposed dwelling
would exceed the height of the garage building to its ridge (which measures to 5.2m), though,
by virtue of its pitched roof form relative to the flat-roof of the existing two storey garage, it
would likely represent only a modest increase in bulk and massing.

6.8

The layout of the site and revised positioning of the proposed dwelling would see the
proposed dwelling incorporate a suitable separation to the site perimeter, particularly to its
southern boundary, and retain a better sense of separation to St Annes to the north. In this
regard the proposal represents a significant improvement in relation to preceding
applications made on the site.

6.9

The submitted plans demonstrate that the principal elevation of the proposed dwelling would
be set-back from Hyde Street by a comparable distance to the adjacent dwelling of St Anne’s,
thereby respecting the prevailing building line east of Hyde Street. The submitted site and
landscaping plans demonstrate that the frontage of the dwelling would not be dominated by
parking and turning facilities, with a proportionate balance between soft and hard
landscaping maintained. The proposals, furthermore, would omit any form of built-enclosure
forward to the principal elevation, in a manner consistent with dwellings to the north on Hyde
Street and Manor Road.

6.10

The landscaping plans and associated hard/soft landscaping specifications provided to the
Authority confirm that the retaining wall to be introduced to the south-eastern boundary of
the site is to be constructed of timber railway sleepers, with planting pockets and Ivy planting
introduced. It is considered that such an arrangement would ensure that this construction
was of an appropriate appearance that would sympathetically integrate to the character of
its surroundings, especially once timber has weathered and planting established.

Page 40

6.11

The existing garage building does not possess any architectural or historic merit, largely
owing to its two-storey flat-roofed form which is inconsistent with the prevailing pitched roof
vernacular of surrounding dwellings. The existing garage building is incongruous to the
character and appearance of its surroundings, with the removal of the building deemed
advantageous to the visual amenities of Hyde Street.

6.12

Overall, it is considered that the proposal now before the Authority successfully addresses
design concerns previously raised in connection with preceding applications and as
considered by the Inspector. The proposed dwelling, by virtue of its significantly reduced
dimensions and increased separation to the site perimeter, would be considered a
proportionate form of development to its respective plot. The proposed pitched roof form of
the proposed dwelling better relates to the vernacular of surrounding built-development than
the existing garage building, with the reduced ridge-length and lack of additional roofconstructions, deemed to ensure that the proposed development would not dominate the
mid/rear portion of the site as perceived from Hyde Street.

6.13

The proposed use of painted render, cedral weatherboard and plain clay tiling is not deemed
unexpected or inappropriate to a contemporary residential development, with some local use
of render evident to development within the Hyde Street Conservation Area to the northwest. The applicant, however, has confirmed agreement to the incorporation of a condition
requiring the submission and approval of a material schedule prior to the commencement of
relevant works, constituting a mechanism by which the use of facing brick could be secured.

6.14

By virtue of the topography of land to the south and east of the site, together with intervening
vegetation, the proposal would not materially influence the setting of the nearby South Downs
National Park, nor would be considered to materially influence the setting of the nearby
heritage assets by virtue of the degree of intervening distance. The proposal, subsequently,
would not be considered contrary to HDPF policies 30 and 34.

6.15

Subject to conditions requiring the submission of details relating to proposed materials,
balustrading to the upper-garden level and imposing relevant restrictions on the future
implementation of ‘permitted development’ rights it is considered that the proposal is of an
appropriate form, scale and design, that would maintain the character and appearance of its
respective setting. The proposal, therefore, would be deemed compliant with the
requirements of HDPF policies 25, 32 and 33 in addition to policy 8 of the emerging UBNP.
Amenity

6.16

Policy 33 of the HDPF (2015), inter alia, requires that development be designed so as to
avoid unacceptable harm to the amenities of nearby occupiers and users of land.

6.17

The proposed dwelling is sited in close proximity to the northern boundary of its respective
plot, however, is separated from the adjacent dwelling of St Annes by a distance of ~12m,
which includes an intervening substation and garaging incidental to the domestic occupation
of St Annes. With regard to this relationship, together with the height and positioning of
fenestrations within the proposed dwelling, it is not considered that the proposed dwelling
would give effect to unacceptable harm to the amenities of adjacent occupiers in terms of
overshadowing and/or a loss of privacy arising from internal living spaces.

6.18

The application site does possess an awkward topography at its easternmost extent, with a
notable change in levels between the ‘top-level garden’ (as denoted on the submitted site
plans), and the adjacent lower garden spaces to the adjacent dwelling of St Annes. At
present, by virtue of the gradient of land and the height of the common boundary, direct views
from the upper-level garden towards St Anne’s are attainable. In response to this
arrangement, and to provide a usable upper-garden space, the applicant proposes to
regrade the upper-level garden so as to reduce the ground level relative to the boundary with

Page 41

St Annes and to provide a 1.7m fence to the boundary so as to preserve the privacy of
neighbouring occupiers.
6.19

It is recognised that an increase in the height of the boundary treatment in this location would
result in some loss of light to the adjacent amenity spaces together with some increased
sense of enclosure. The boundary, however, does remain ~4.5m removed from the built
footprint of St Annes, while the removal of the existing garage building would further allow
for the increased receipt of light and increased sense of openness to neighbouring occupiers
accounting for the repositioning of built-form within the application site. The site continues to
benefit from rights bestowed under Class A of Part 2, Schedule 2 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, which would allow for the
provision of a boundary fence/wall up to 2m in height to the northern edge of the application
site without the need for planning permission. With regard to the proposed arrangement,
together with the possibility of a boundary treatment being introduced to this position without
the need for consent, it is considered that the proposal would not result in unacceptable harm
to the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in terms of receipt of natural light and/or a sense
of enclosure.

6.19

The proposed dwelling would be separated from the adjacent dwellings of Nos 5 and 6
Maines Farm Road by some distance, with a notable rise in levels to the east and south of
the site. Given the single-storey composition of the proposed dwelling and the gradient of
land surrounding the site it is not considered that the proposal would adversely influence the
amenities of these occupiers in terms of a loss of privacy and or loss of light.

6.20

Subject to a conditions requiring construction to be limited to sociable hours, and limiting
permitted development rights in respect of the formation of outbuildings so as to maintain
boundaries as agreed, it is considered that the proposals would not unacceptably impact
upon the amenities of neighbouring occupiers, in accordance with HDPF policy 33.

6.23

In respect of future occupiers, the proposed development would seek to provide external
amenity spaces for future occupiers in the form of garden/patio areas to the rear and south
of the proposed development. While these areas are not extensive, these do cumulatively
exceed the footprint of the proposed dwelling and are considered sufficient in terms of their
size and layout to serve the needs of the single bedroom dwelling proposed.

6.24

This application is accompanied by a formal acoustic survey, which sought to assess the
effects of the adjacent substation on the amenity of future occupiers. While this survey was
previously conducted in relation to ref: DC/19/2074 the current proposal enjoys a similar
relationship in acoustic terms with this assessment of the acoustic effects of electrical
equipment across the site considered to remain valid. It is noted at paragraphs 4.16.1-5 that
appropriate standards of inaudibility could be achieved in relation to ref: DC/19/2074 through
the incorporation of internal sound insulations and use of triple glazing in order to attenuate
against noise impact. Given the changes in layout/orientation between ref: DC/19/2074, and
the proposal now before the Authority, it is considered appropriate to secure details of
proposed sound attenuation to provide confidence to the Authority as to the nature/efficacy
of proposed mitigations and so as to ensure that an appropriate level of inaudibility can be
achieved to internal living spaces.

6.25

Subject to appropriately worded conditions, therefore, it is considered that an appropriate
level of amenity for future occupiers can be achieved in compliance with HDPF policies 24
and 32.

Page 42

Parking, Highway Safety and Operation:
6.26

Policy 41 of the HDPF stipulates that development must provide adequate parking and
facilities to meet the needs of anticipated users, with consideration given to the needs of
cycle parking, motorcycle parking and electric/low emission vehicles. HDPF policy 40,
further, seeks to ensure that development is served by a safe and convenient means of
access.

6.27

The proposal would make use of a pre-existing highway access onto Hyde Street. As
considered by the Local Highways Authority there is no pre-existing evidence of
unsatisfactory operation in this location, notwithstanding its proximity to the junction between
Hyde Street and Henfield Road. The visibility splay from this existing access is considered
sufficient to serve the needs of the proposed development, with the proposal deemed
compliant with HDPF policies 40 and 41 in terms of the effects of development on highway
safety and/or operation.

6.28

The development would provide for two off-street parking spaces, which would satisfy
anticipated parking demand as recommended by the West Sussex County Council Parking
Calculator. The proposed parking and turning area, furthermore, would appear dimensioned
so as to enable vehicles to manoeuvre so as to exit onto the publicly maintained highway in
a forward gear.

6.29

The proposal indicates the provision of a secure cycle store and an electric vehicle charging
point. These measures are welcomed in relation to policy 41 of the HDPF, and to promote
the sustainability of the application site. Overall, therefore, it is considered that the proposal
is compliant with HDPF policy 41 in terms of parking provision.

Climate Change:
6.30

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.

6.31

The proposal would made use of currently developed land, further seeking to provide cycle
parking and electric vehicle charging facilities in addition to providing sustainable urban
drainage systems. These measures, in addition to the recommended conditions requiring
limits on water use, are deemed proportionate to a development of the scale proposed and
sufficient to adequately mitigate against the effects of climate change
Drainage:

6.32

The proposal seeks to make use of sustainable urban drainage systems for the disposal of
surface water, with existing public sewerage (already available to Hyde Street) utilised for
the disposal of foul water. Subject to the receipt of details pertaining to the measures to
prevent surface water run-off onto the publicly maintained highway, which can be secured
by means of the recommended landscape condition, the proposal would be deemed
compliant with HDPF policy 35.
Conclusions:

6.33

The proposed development is located in a sustainable location within the Built Up Area
Boundary of Upper Beeding and would replace an incongruous two storey garage structure
that is harmful to the appearance of the area. Having regard to the previous refused
applications for a dwelling on this site, is now considered that, on balance, the proposal is of
an acceptable scale, design, siting and layout which would suitably preserve the visual

Page 43

amenities of Hyde Street and the broader character of its surroundings. Subject to the
recommended conditions the proposal would not result in unacceptable harm to the
amenities of neighbouring occupiers, or upon highway safety and/or operation. This
application is, therefore, recommended for approval accordingly.
7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1.

That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed below:1

Plans list

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any
works of demolition, until the following construction site set-up details have been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
i.
ii.

the location for the loading and unloading of plant and materials, site offices,
and storage of plant and materials (including any stripped topsoil)
the provision of wheel washing facilities;

The approved details shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure construction activities do not
interfere with the safe and practical operation of the publicly maintained highway in
accordance with policy 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until precise
details of the existing and proposed finished floor levels and external ground levels of
the development in relation to nearby datum points adjoining the application site have
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The
development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the
interests of amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

5

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: Notwithstanding the details
submitted, no development above ground floor slab level of any part of the
development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule of materials, finishes
and colours to the external walls, windows and roofs of the approved dwelling have
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. All
materials used in the construction of the development hereby permitted shall,
subsequently, conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to
control the development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to
achieve a building of visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015)

6

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor
slab level shall commence until a scheme for sound attenuation against external

Page 44

noise has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall have regard to the recommendations set out in the Environmental
Noise Impact Assessment Hereby Approved (Philip A Northfield and Associates, ref:
P322, dated: 18.12.2019). The approved sound attenuation measures shall be
implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the dwelling and subsequently
retained thereafter.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in the interests of residential amenities by
ensuring an acceptable noise level for the occupants of the development in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
7

Pre-Occupation Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be occupied
until the parking spaces associated with it have been provided in accordance with the
approved details. The areas of land so provided shall thereafter be retained for the
parking of vehicles.
Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory provision is made for the parking
of vehicles clear of all highways in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015)

8

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, the
necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to
enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre
broadband connection shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future
occupiers in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

9

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby
permitted the secure cycle-storage shed shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved block plan (Les Humphrey Associates, ref: 160919-14 revision J,
dated: 14.10.2020) and shall be thereafter retained.
Reason: To ensure adequate cycle-parking facilities are available to serve the
development and to promote sustainable modes of travel in accordance with Policies
40 and 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

10

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby
permitted a single electric vehicle charging point shall be provided in accordance
with the approved block plan (Les Humphrey Associates, ref: 160919-14 revision J,
dated: 14.10.2020). As a minimum, the charge point specification shall be 7kW
mode 3 with type 2 connector. The means for charging electric vehicles shall be
thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To ensure adequate cycle-parking facilities are available to serve the
development and to promote sustainable modes of travel in accordance with Policies
40 and 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Pre-Occupation Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be first occupied
unless and until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been provided
within the side or rear garden. The facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at all
times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 45

Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
12

Pre-Occupation Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be occupied
until optional requirement G2 to the Building Regulations 2010 (as amended) to limit
water usage of that dwelling to 110 litres per person per day has been achieved.
Water limiting measures to meet this standard shall thereafter be permanently
retained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to limit water use in order to improve the
sustainability of the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

13

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the
development hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall
have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The
details shall include plans and measures addressing the following:







Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers;
Details of the extent and composition of hard surfacing and measures to prevent
surface water-run off onto the publicly maintained highway;
Hardstanding capable of holding two parked vehicles
Details of all boundary treatments, including the height, design and composition
of boundary treatments, to include specifically the proposed northern side
boundary with St Annes relative to existing boundary heights and existing and
proposed ground levels.
Details of the height, design and composition of balustrading provided to the
‘upper level garden’;

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any
part of the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved
landscaping, no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted,
felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous written consent of the Local
Planning Authority until 5 years after completion of the development. Any proposed
planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to
any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
14

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A, Part 2, Schedule
2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)
Order 2015 (or any Act or Order amending, revoking and re-enacting the same), no
fence, wall, gate or other means of enclosure, other than those detailed on a
landscaping plan to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in
writing, shall be formed forward of the principal elevation of the dwelling hereby
approved or to the northern boundary of the application site.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the proposed
development would result in a sympathetic form of development appropriate to the
character and appearance of its surroundings in accordance and to maintain the

Page 46

amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
15

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Act or
Order amending, revoking and re-enacting the same) no development falling within
Classes AA, A, B, E and F of Part 1 of Schedule 2) of the order shall be erected,
constructed or placed within the curtilage of the development hereby permitted
without express planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being
obtained.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and maintain the availability of external
amenity space to future occupiers in accordance with Policies 32 and 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays
and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or
public Holidays
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

17

Post-Occupation Condition: Prior to first occupation of the dwelling hereby
permitted the temporary construction fence found to the western and north-western
extent of the site shall be removed and all resultant materials removed from the site
in accordance with the block plan hereby approved (Les Humphrey Associates, ref:
160919-14 revision J, dated: 14.10.2020).
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the proposed
development would result in a sympathetic form of development appropriate to the
character and appearance of its surroundings in accordance and to maintain the
amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers:
DC/20/2184
DC/20/1556
DC/20/0472
DC/19/2074

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 16 June 2020
by J Bowyer BSc(Hons) MSc MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 24th June 2020

Appeal Ref: APP/Z3825/W/20/3247626
Site Adjacent to St Anne’s, Hyde Street, Upper Beeding BN44 3TG
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr Simon Stringer against the decision of Horsham District
Council.
The application Ref DC/19/2074, dated 10 October 2019, was refused by notice dated
5 February 2020.
The development proposed is alterations and extensions to existing building, with
change of use, to form a 2-bedroom dwelling together with parking spaces.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Main Issues
2. The main issues are the effect of the proposal on (i) the character and
appearance of the area; and (ii) the living conditions of the occupiers of the
dwelling known as St Anne’s.
Reasons
Character and Appearance
3. The appeal site includes a detached two-storey building accessed from Hyde
Street which provides for a garage, together with a first floor level described as
a studio. Forward of the building, the site predominantly comprises
hardstanding or areas of hardcore, and an electrical substation is positioned
between the side of the building and the adjacent dwelling at St Anne’s. To the
rear of the site, dwellings fronting Maines Farm Road are set at a higher land
level, and land levels increase from Hyde Street across the site towards these.
4. Dwellings close to the appeal site predominantly comprise bungalows, and
while some include roof lights or dormers, these tend to be of fairly limited size
and number. Given the curved alignments of both Maines Farm Road and Hyde
Street nearby, these dwellings are typically set on irregularly shaped plots, but
for the most part are set well back from the street and spacing between
buildings is generous. This provides a landscaped setting to the dwellings as
well as enabling views towards rear gardens, and results in an attractive
spacious character to the area overall.
5. The appeal proposes alteration and extension of the existing building on the
appeal site to form a dwelling. The maximum width of the building would not
be extended, but the proposal would result in a significant increase in its

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 49

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/20/3247626

overall scale, and would alter its appearance from that of an ancillary structure
to an independent dwelling.
6. I accept that the proposed pitched roof form would be more in keeping with the
sloping roofs of other dwellings nearby than the existing flat roof to the
building. However, dormers to either side of the roof would be set back only
minimally from the eaves, and the dormer facing away from St Anne’s would
also be comparable in height to the main roof ridge. Together with the increase
in height and footprint of the building, this would add significantly to its overall
scale and bulk.
7. The differing orientation of the proposed dwelling to St Anne’s and its location
at a bend in Hyde Street mean that the front extension and marked increase in
the bulk of the development would be readily visible in the street scene. While
the set back of the building from the street would be broadly comparable to
that of the neighbour at St Anne’s, it would therefore be prominent.
8. The appeal site increases in width towards the frontage with Hyde Street, but
the rear part of the dwelling would be set on the boundary with St Anne’s, and
the proposed front extension would also leave minimal separation to the
opposite boundary with 6 Maines Farm Road. As a consequence, the dwelling
would be seen from Hyde Street as filling the majority of the width of the rear
part of the plot. The building would also be set fairly close to the front and rear
plot boundaries, and together with the increased scale of the building and the
unusually tight relationship with the boundaries to both sides, this would result
in the dwelling appearing cramped on the site. This would contrast notably with
the typically generous setting afforded to dwellings in the vicinity of the appeal
site, detracting from the spacious character of the surrounding area, and would
not be mitigated by spacing that exists within neighbouring sites.
9. Moreover, much of the site frontage is shown as hardstanding to provide for
parking and access, and the limited spacing that would remain on the site
around the dwelling would leave very little opportunity for soft landscaping or
garden space. As a consequence, the dwelling would be deprived of a proper
setting, emphasising the cramped appearance of the development and
exacerbating the visual impact on the street scene.
10. I agree with the main parties that the existing building is of no particular
aesthetic or architectural merit, but for these reasons I find that the proposal
as a whole would be unsympathetic, and would not offer an enhancement over
the existing site circumstances. I therefore conclude on this main issue that the
proposal would cause unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of
the area and would conflict with Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework 2015 (HDPF). These policies seek development that
complements locally distinctive character and relates sympathetically to its
surroundings. For similar reasons, there would be conflict with Policy 8 of the
emerging Upper Beeding Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2018. However, this plan
has not yet proceeded to referendum, and I cannot be certain that it will
become part of the development plan. I therefore give less weight to the
conflict with this policy.
Living Conditions
11. To mitigate potential noise disturbance to occupiers of the proposed dwelling
from the adjacent electrical substation, the proposal includes the installation of
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 502

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/20/3247626

an acoustic barrier above the proposed single-storey part of the dwelling close
to the boundary with St Anne’s. Given that this would be of lesser height than
the roof of the existing building, and I am satisfied that it would not cause an
additional sense of enclosure or increased visual impact to the neighbouring
dwelling or its garden.
12. Land levels rise steeply between the appeal building and the rear boundary of
the site where a garden is proposed to serve the dwelling. I saw that both the
proposed garden and existing boundary fence are at a much higher level than
St Anne’s and its rear garden. No sections or other drawings have been
provided to clearly show the proposed boundary treatment to St Anne’s,
although the submitted block plan indicates provision of close boarded fencing
around 2m high above a retaining wall which is inset from the existing
boundary fence.
13. Given the existing height difference between the sites, the resulting increase in
the height of the boundary treatment would be a highly dominant feature from
the perspective of occupiers of St Anne’s. It would also be likely to cause a loss
of daylight and sunlight, particularly during the early part of the day. Together
with the resulting significant sense of enclosure, these factors would adversely
affect the use and enjoyment of the neighbouring garden causing harm to the
living conditions of the occupiers of St Anne’s.
14. In response to concerns raised by interested parties over reflected noise from
the substation, the appellant has suggested that the acoustic barrier fence
could be replaced by a non-acoustic screen and that a planning condition could
require submission of amended boundary details. From the evidence before
me, I am satisfied that this would not unacceptably harm the living conditions
of future occupiers of the proposed dwelling.
15. Nevertheless, given the relationship with St Anne’s, boundary treatment of
sufficient height would be necessary to the proposed garden to ensure that the
development would not result in harmful overlooking to the neighbouring
windows and garden. The appellant suggests that fencing could be set back
from the boundary, but this would also affect the provision of external amenity
space available for future occupiers. Given these factors and the land levels to
the rear of the appeal site which increase the potential for any boundary
treatment to affect the living conditions of the occupiers of St Anne’s, I am not
satisfied that provision of suitable boundary treatment is a matter that should
be left for later resolution by means of a planning condition.
16. From the information before me, I am unable to conclude on this main issue
that the proposal would not cause unacceptable harm to the living conditions of
the occupiers of St Anne’s by reason of loss of outlook and light. As a result,
the development would conflict with Policy 33 of the HDPF which seeks,
amongst other things, protection for the amenity of the occupiers or users of
nearby property and land.
Other Matters
17. The appeal site forms part of the setting of the Hyde Lane Conservation Area
(CA) which includes a number of listed buildings. I have therefore had special
regard to the desirability of preserving the listed buildings and their setting or
any features of special architectural or historic interest, in accordance with
sections 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3
Page 51

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/20/3247626

1990. Given the spacing that would be maintained together with the
surrounding development and the scale of the proposal, I see no reason to
disagree with the Council that the setting and significance of listed buildings
would be preserved. I am also satisfied that the proposal would not harm the
character or appearance of the CA. However, the absence of harm to these
heritage assets weighs neither for nor against the proposal.
18. In the absence of firm details, I can afford limited weight to the suggestion that
the proposal could improve footpath access past the site as sought by the
Parish Council. However, the proposal would make effective use of the
currently developed site to provide for a new dwelling within an existing
residential area with access to services and facilities within Upper Beeding, and
there would be some social and economic benefits associated with the
construction and occupation of the dwelling. These are aspects which are
supported by the National Planning Policy Framework. However, these benefits
and the contribution to the supply of housing would be limited by the small
scale of the development.
19. I have noted a representation in support of the proposal, and the Council raise
no objection in relation to the provision of parking, the highway network or the
setting of the South Downs National Park. However, the absence of harm in
these regards is a neutral factor.
20. Even taken together, I find that the benefits of the proposal would not
outweigh the harm that I have identified to the character and appearance of
the area and the living conditions of the occupiers of St Anne’s. The proposal
would conflict with the development plan when read as a whole, and there are
no material considerations which indicate that a decision contrary to the
development plan should be reached.
21. The Council’s officer report raises concern that provision of private amenity
space would be inadequate to serve future occupiers. I agree that the land
levels and sense of enclosure to the space at the rear of the building would
limit the utility and attractiveness of this space for future occupiers. However, I
am mindful that this is not a reason for refusal of the application and as a
result has not been addressed by the appellant as part of this appeal. With this
in mind, I confirm that the harm that would arise in relation to the main issues
in this case provide compelling grounds to dismiss the appeal.
Conclusion
22. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.

J Bowyer
INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 524

06) DC/20/2184
Land Adjacent to St Annes, Hyde Street, Upper Beeding

¯

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public
21

10

Old Place
Oak
Cottage

Ruin

20

Chapel

The
Old
House

13

x

16

5

nne
St A

FA
RM

15
I NE
MA

S

th

's
8

RO
AD

Pa

HE
NF
IEL
D

RO
A

Fairfa

Old
Manor
LB

D

3

El
Sub
Sta

Scrap Yard
10.4m

Valerie Manor

7

4
13

d
Fo x w o o

1

A 203

Spring
Cottage

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

25/02/2021

Page 53MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Report to

Planning Committee

Date

27.01.2020

By

Director of Planning

Local Authority

Horsham District Council

Application Number

SDNP/20/05253/FUL

Applicant

Mr & Mrs Len & Christine Earl

Application

Demolition of existing residential dwelling and five outbuildings.
Erection of a detached 3 bedroom dwelling and ancillary building
providing undercover parking and studio/store room with
associated landscaping.
Greenacres Farm
Washington Road
Storrington
RH20 4AF

Address

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: At the request of Storrington Parish
Council

Recommendation: That the application be approved subject to the conditions set out
in paragraph 10 of this report.
IMPORTANT NOTE: This application is liable for Community Infrastructure Levy.

Executive Summary
Planning permission is sought for the provision of a single storey dwelling in replacement of an existing
residential unit and several outbuildings constituent of Greenacres Farm to the south of Washington
Road.
The site is located beyond a defined settlement boundary, in a location which had been previously
deemed unsustainable for residential development at appeal subsequent to ref: SDNP/18/06445/FUL.
Further to the dismissal of the previous appeal a lawful development certificate has been granted (ref:
SDNP/20/01322/LDE) which confirms the status of ‘Greenacres Lodge’ as a lawfully occupied
independent dwelling at Greenacres Farm. This grant of a lawful development certificate, and the status
of the proposal as a replacement dwelling as opposed to an additional dwelling, represents a significant
change in circumstance since the preceding appeal determination. As the proposal would not effect a
material increase in the number of residential units at Greenacres Farm, the proposal would not be
considered contrary to the provisions of policy SD25 of the South Downs Local Plan (SDLP) (2019).
It is considered that a replacement dwelling of the scale proposed would not detrimentally influence the
availability of small and medium sized housing within the National Park, in compliance with policy SD30 of
the South Downs Local Plan (SDLP) (2091) The proposed dwelling is considered of an acceptable design
and scale, with the overall consolidation of built form arising from the removal of various existing
development deemed beneficial to the appearance and character of the site in accordance with SDLP
policies SD4 and SD5.
The information before the Authority, furthermore, suggests that the proposed dwelling would attain
COMREPORT

Page 55

high standards of energy efficiency in addition to an ecosystem services gain, in compliance with policies
SD48 and SD2 of the SDLP. It is not considered that the proposal would adversely influence highway
safety and/or operation, or unacceptable impact upon the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in
compliance with SDLP policies SD5, SD21 and SD22.
Subject to appropriate conditions it is considered that the proposal would not unacceptably impact upon
the integrity or quality of local dark skies or International Dark Skies Reserve in compliance with policy
SD8 of the SDLP.
It is considered that the proposal would comply with all relevant development plan policy, and therefore,
it is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the recommended conditions.
1

Site Description

1.1

Greenacres Farm is located to the south of Washington Road, approximately 430m east of the
defined built-up area of Storrington. The site comprises of a paddock at its southern extent
together with various utility/storage buildings. The site access and shared driveway is included
with the defined application site, together with the existing unit of Greenacres Lodge found to
the east of the existing site access.

1.2

Two replacement dwellings (consented in connection with ref: SDNP/17/03618/FUL and
SDNP/18/02874/FUL respectively) have been recently constructed adjacent to the application site
at its southern extent. Prior to recent residential development, however, it is understood that
the entire extent of Greenacres Farm is understood to have been occupied in connection with
holiday accommodation, for which original managers dwelling (Holly Cottage) remains at the
north-eastern extent of the Farm. It is considered that the site would satisfy a definition of
previously developed land, as defined at Annex 2 to the National Planning Policy Framework
(2019).

1.3

The site benefits from well-established boundaries to its eastern, western and southern extents,
and is further not visible within public views from Washington Road (with the exception of the
site access), owing to the degree of set-back to the highway. The site surrounds comprise of
small to moderately sized fields typically edged by established vegetation. Some sporadic
residential development is identifiable on Washington Road to the north and east of the site,
however.

1.4

The site falls within the South Downs National Park and corresponding International Dark Skies
Reserve. The site is not affected by any statutory heritage, biodiversity or environmental
designation.

2

Proposal

2.1

Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing dwelling of Greenacres Lodge in
addition to several utility buildings serving various storage/workshop functions. The proposed
dwelling would be sited to the south of the existing dwelling of ‘Poppies’ accessed via a preexisting turning head and gated access to the north-east.

2.2

The proposed dwelling would be single storey, arranged so as to occupy a ‘T’ shaped footprint
while further incorporating a dual-pitched gabled roof. The proposed dwelling would further
benefit from a detached outbuilding serving as a car-port and store to be positioned to the northwest, with the respective garden spaces for the new dwelling extending to the rear. The dwelling
would occupy a plot edged by a pre-existing bund to the east, which would separate the dwelling
and its garden spaces from an adjacent paddock.

Page 56

2.3

The submitted plans indicate that the proposals would make use of an untreated timber cladding
to external elevations, standing seam zinc roofing and aluminium fenestrations.

3

Relevant Planning History

3.1

Greenacres Farm possesses an extensive planning history. Applications most relevant to the
determination of this application are listed below:

SDNP/20/01322/LDE

Application to confirm the use of Greenacres Lodge as
an independent C3 Residential Unit on a date four years
previous (Certificate of Lawful Development - Existing)

Application permitted on
30.07.2020

SDNP/18/06445/FUL

Demolition of existing outbuildings and erection of a
low level, two bedroom bungalow of 140 sq metres of
habitable space

Application refused on
19.02.2019.

SDNP/18/02874/FUL

Removal of existing mobile home and erection of a
single bungalow

Application permitted on
31.08.2018

SDNP/17/06526/LDE

Application to confirm the continuous occupation of ‘Ivy
Cottage’ as a separate and independent residence since
1998 (Certificate of Lawful Development – Existing)

Application permitted on
16.03.2018

SDNP/17/03618/FUL

Proposed demolition of 3x letting cottages and 1x
residential managers dwelling and erection of a single
three bedroom bungalow

Application permitted on
09.11.2017

SDNP/16/01814/CND

Variation of condition 7 of planning permission ref
SR/32/03 to transfer managers accommodation tie to
Cottage 3

Application permitted on
23.01.2017

SDNP/15/03779/LDE

Occupancy of Greenacres Cottages for purposes other
than holiday accommodation all year round in breach of
condition 2 on planning permission SG/9/90 (Certificate
of Lawful Development – Existing)

Split decision issued on
24.09.2015

SDNP/14/05872/FUL

Demolition of 4 no. existing bungalows and erection of
a single residential bungalow. Removal of restriction on
Holly Cottage limiting it to occupation by manager(s) of
the holiday let accommodation

Application refused on
02.03.2015

DC/09/1235

Demolition of existing four bungalows and erection of a
3-bed detached cottage with associated access, parking
and amenity

Application refused on
29.04.2009

DC/06/2636

Demolition of existing chalet bungalows and
outbuildings and erection of 3x3 bed dwellings,
associated access, parking and amenity

Application refused on
21.12.2006.

Page 57

Appeal
dismissed
(APP/Y9507/W/19/3226
778) on 12.09.2019

Appeal
dismissed
(APP/Z3825/A/07/20411
29) on 14.05.2007
SG/16/02

Erection of replacement managers dwelling

4

Consultations

4.1

Southern Water: Standing advice received

4.2

Storrington Parish Council: Objection:-

Application permitted on
01.08.2002

Storrington Parish Council resolved to object to the proposal on the basis of the location of the
site beyond the defined built-up area of Storrington, and considered that the site was not a
sustainable location for residential development. It was, additionally, considered that the proposal
would not contribute to countryside amenity and increase urban sprawl within the site.
5

Representations

5.1

A single letter of public representation was received in support of the proposal. The main
material ground for support can be summarised as:-

The proposal is in keeping with other development permitted on this site;
The proposal does not pose any problems to the area.

6

Planning Policy Context

6.1

Relevant Government Planning Policy and Guidance
Government policy relating to National Parks is set out in English National Parks and the Broads:
UK Government Vision and Circular 2010 and The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) ,
updated February 2019. The Circular and NPPF confirm that National Parks have the highest
status of protection, and the NPPF states at paragraph 172 that great weight should be given to
conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in national parks and that the conservation
and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important considerations and should be
given great weight in National Parks.

6.2

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
The development plan policies listed below have been assessed for their compliance with the
NPPF and have been found to be compliant with the NPPF.

6.3

The following policies of the South Downs Local Plan (2019) are relevant to this application:
-

SD1: Sustainable Development
SD2: Ecosystem Services
SD4: Landscape Character
SD5: Design
SD7: Relative Tranquillity
SD8: Dark Night Skies
SD9: Biodiversity and Geodiversity
SD11: Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows
SD19: Transport and Accessibility
SD21: Public Realm, Highway Design and Public Art
SD22: Parking Provision

Page 58

-

SD25: Development Strategy
SD27: Housing Mix
SD30: Replacement Dwellings
SD45: Green Infrastructure
SD48: Climate Change and Sustainable Use of Resources
SD49: Flood Risk Management

Storrington, Sullington & Washington Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031 (2019)
6.4

The following policies of the made Neighbourhood Plan are relevant to this application:






7

Policy 1 – A Spatial Plan for the Parishes
Policy 8 – Countryside Protection
Policy 14 – Design
Policy 18 – Traffic and Transport
Policy 19 – Car Parking

Planning Assessment
Principle of Development:

7.1

Policy SD25 of the South Downs Local Plan (SDLP) (2019) seeks to support development of an
appropriate scale within defined settlement boundaries, further, seeking to limit development
beyond defined settlement boundary other than in exceptional circumstances, including the
appropriate re-use of previously developed land, and where compliant with other relevant
development plan policies.

7.2

Policy 1 of the Storrington, Sullington and Washington Neighbourhood Plan (SSWNP) (2019),
complements the spatial strategy of the SDLP at policy SD25, seeking to support development
within the defined built-up area of Storrington, while requiring adherence to relevant countryside
protection policy beyond the settlement boundary.

7.3

The site is beyond the defined settlement boundary of Storrington, found some distance from
locally accessible services and amenities. As previously considered in connection with the appeal
subsequent to ref: SDNP/18/06445/FUL, notwithstanding the status of the site as previously
developed land, the Inspector considered at paragraphs 7-12 that the site was unsustainable for
residential development and contrary to the manner in which policy SD25 seeks to promote and
concentrate development.

7.4

Further to the dismissal of the appeal subsequent to ref: SDNP/18/06445/FUL the grant of a
lawful development certificate pursuant to ref: SDNP/20/01322/LDE establishes the lawful
occupation of Greenacres Lodge as an independent dwelling. Planning permission is now sought
for the replacement of this existing residential unit, as opposed to the introduction of an
additional dwelling as considered pursuant to ref: SDNP/18/06445/FUL. The proposal now before
the Authority, therefore, is of a materially different nature to the preceding application and would
not affect an increase in the number of residential units in this location, resulting in a greater
degree of conflict with SD25 than the pre-existing arrangement.

7.5

Policy SD30 of the SDLP does provide an ‘in principle’ policy basis for replacement dwellings
beyond the defined settlement boundary. This policy states that replacement dwellings will be
permitted where:
a.) The structure, constituting all new and existing development, does not result in a net
increase of more than approximately 30% compared to the gross internal area of the existing
dwelling; and

Page 59

b.) The replacement dwelling is not overbearing, or of a form which would be detrimental to the
amenity of nearby residents by virtue of loss of light and/or privacy.
7.6

Policy SD30 has been drafted with reference to the identified shortage of small and medium sized
homes within the National Park recognised by the extensive Housing and Economic
Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA)(2017) commissioned by the National Park Authority,
and reflects the identified need to preserve the supply of small and medium sized housing stock
within the National Park.

7.6

The existing unit of Greenacres Lodge is modestly proportioned unit, shown to occupy a grossinternal area (GIA) of 27.7m2 as described on the submitted plans. The proposed dwelling would
benefit from three bedrooms and possess a GIA of 133m2, representing a significant increase of
~480% relative to the existing residential unit. In this regard, therefore, the proposal does
substantially exceed the approximately 30% limit referenced at policy SD30 in relation to the
existing dwelling.

7.7

It is considered, however, that the significant percentage increase evident in this instance reflects
the diminutive proportions of the existing residential unit of Greenacres Lodge, which would not
satisfy contemporary minimum space standards, as opposed to the excessive scale of the
proposed dwelling. The proposed dwelling, as a matter of fact and degree, is considered to
represent a ‘medium’ sized dwelling, given the modest 13m2 uplift in internal area relative to a
‘small’ dwelling (120m2 or less) defined at paragraph 7.89 of the SDLP.

7.8

The published Technical Advice Note concerning replacement dwellings1, confirms at paragraph
3.8 that the loss of a small dwelling and its extension/and or replacement to form a medium sized
dwelling would not reduce the supply of small and medium sized homes within the National Park,
irrespective of individual performance against the 30% limit. The proposed dwelling, as a
moderately proportioned three bedroomed unit, would further accord with the priority given to
the delivery of two and three bedroom market units set out at policy SD27 of the SDLP. It is
considered, therefore, that any degree of conflict with policy SD30 in relation to the 30% limit
represents a technical conflict, and would not prove contrary to the purpose of the policy in
preserving the supply of small and medium sized homes in the National Park, and the broader
priority to be given to the delivery of two and three bed market units.

7.9

It is, furthermore, noted that the proposal seeks to removal several existing buildings which are
in use for storage/workshop purposes incidental to the management of land at Greenacres Farm
and in connection with the applicants own domestic occupation at Greenacres Farm. These
buildings, cumulatively, occupy a greater area than the proposed dwelling, with the proposal
effecting a notable net-decrease in the overall number and area of buildings at Greenacres Farm.
While these structures do not form part of the residential unit of Greenacres Lodge, and
therefore are not of relevancy to the 30% limited referred to at SD30, the landscape and
character benefits to be derived from the removal of existing buildings must be considered in
relation to the current proposal.

7.10

It is considered that the proposed dwelling is of an acceptable scale and nature, which would not
detrimentally influence the supply of small and medium sized housing within the National Park
warranting objection in relation to policies SD27 and SD30 where read as a whole and in relation
to the purposes of such policy. It is considered, therefore, that the proposal is acceptable in
principle, subject to consideration in all other material regards.
Landscape Impact, Character and Appearance:

7.11

Policy SD4 of the SDLP provides that development will only be permitted that conserves and
enhances landscape character through the retention and enhancement of existing landscape

1

South Downs Local Plan, Extensions and Replacement Dwellings Technical Advice Note (July 2020)
(https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/FINAL-TAN.pdf)

Page 60

features, positive design, layout and scale that reinforces distinctive landscape characteristics and
the evolution of the landscape and by safeguarding the amenity and experiential qualities of the
landscape
7.12

Policy SD5 of the SDLP requires a landscape led approach to design, through sensitive and high
quality design that makes a positive contribution to the overall character and appearance of an
area. Development inter alia, will be required to complement landscape character, contribute to
local distinctiveness and incorporate architectural design appropriate to its setting in terms of
height, massing, density, roof form and relevant detailing.

7.13

Policy 14 of the SSWNP seeks to ensure that the scale, massing, height, landscape design, layout
and materials of all development reflect the architectural and historic character and scale of built
and landscape surrounds.

7.14

The proposed dwelling would be sited at the western extent of Greenacres Farm and to the
south and east of existing residential development at Poppy and Ivy Cottages. Adjacent residential
development is recently constructed and possesses a contemporary character derived from the
form, design and use of materials to these dwellings. The proposed dwelling would, broadly,
reflect this character through its contemporary form, balance of fenestration and material palette.

7.15

As noted by the Inspector subsequent to ref: SDNP/18/06445/FUL at paragraphs 13-15, a
dwelling of similar proportions and siting to that now proposed was not considered detrimental
to local landscape character or the visual amenities of the public realm. In coming to this
conclusion the Inspector noted the well-established boundaries to Greenacres Farm, which
provide for a sense of detachment from the surrounding countryside, and the absence of public
views given the degree of removal from Washington Road.

7.16

It is not considered that the proposed dwelling would prove visible within public views, or
detrimentally influence the setting of surrounding landscape by virtue of its single storey height
and boundary treatments already present to the perimeter of Greenacres Farm. The removal of a
series of outbuildings and associated hardstand present to the western extent of the Farm would
reduce a sense of sprawl within Greenacres Farm itself, and is deemed beneficial to the visual
amenities of Greenacres Farm and on approach to the proposed dwelling.

7.17

Overall it is considered that the proposed dwelling is of an acceptable simple design which would
appropriately reflect the character of recent contemporary development undertaken in the
vicinity, while further of a scale and siting which would not result in harm to broader landscape
character and distant views. The proposal, furthermore, would represent a net-reduction in builtform present to Greenacres Farm and would redress a sense of sprawl currently appreciable
along its western boundary. It is considered, therefore, that the proposal would comply with
policies SD4 and SD5 of the SDLP, in addition to policy 14 of the SSWNP.
Amenity:

7.18

Policy SD30 of the SDLP, inter alia, seeks to ensure that replacement dwellings do not result in
detriment to the amenities of neighbouring occupiers by reason of overbearingness, light and/or
privacy. Policy SD5, further, inter alia, would require that development is designed so as to have
regard of the amenities of surrounding uses and occupiers.

7.19

The proposed dwelling would be sited at a distance of approximately 27m opposite the existing
dwelling of Poppies. Mutual views would be attained towards the respective principal elevation of
each dwelling, where a degree of overlooking would not be unexpected, further being attained at
some distance. It is, therefore, not considered that any degree of mutual inter-visibility which
would arise between future and existing occupiers would prove unacceptable.

7.20

It is, furthermore, considered that the dwelling is of a siting and scaling which would not result in
a material loss of light and or unacceptable sense of enclosure to neighbouring occupiers.

Page 61

Parking, Highways Safety and Operation:
7.21

The proposed dwelling would make use of a pre-existing highway access onto Washington Road,
which serves five existing dwelling within and adjacent to Greenacres Farm. The proposal would
not be considered to result in a significant increase in vehicular movements with regard to the
removal of an existing residential unit and the removal of various storage/workshop buildings.

7.22

As considered by the Local Highways Authority in relation to ref: SDNP/18/06445/FUL an
additional dwelling was not considered to give rise a highway safety and/or operation concern,
with no objection previously raised to this preceding proposal on highways grounds. It is not
considered that there has been any significant change in circumstance which would warrant an
alternative conclusion in this regard.

7.23

Parking facilities proposed forward of the proposed dwelling are sufficient to accommodate
several parked vehicles whilst not compromising the ability of vehicles to turn and manoeuvre
onto the publicly maintained highway in a forward gear.

7.24

Subject to conditions requiring the delivery of cycle-parking facilities, indicated to be provided to
the proposed outbuilding, together with electric vehicle charging facilities, it is considered that
the proposal would prove compliant with policies SD21 and SD22 of the SDLP.
Sustainable Construction:

7.25

Policy SD48 of the SDLP (2019) requires residential development to incorporate sustainable
design features as appropriate and to limit water use to 110 litres per person per day and achieve
(or exceed) a 19% carbon dioxide reduction improvement against Part L (2013) of the building
regulations.

7.26

The submitted planning, design and access statements make extensive reference to measures
designed to enhance the sustainability and energy performance of the proposed dwelling. As
explained at part 3.3 of the submitted design and access statement, these measures would include
the provision of triple glazing, an air-tight built fabric and well insulated walling/flooring elements.
Reference is additionally made to the provision of an air source heat pump. An energy statement
providing a detailed explanation of anticipated energy performance and relative Co2 reduction
through energy efficiency and/or means of on-site renewable generation, has not been provided,
however, such principles are welcomed and indicate deliberate consideration of means to reduce
resource use.

7.27

It is considered that appropriate detail by means of a condition to demonstrate that the proposal
would achieve the 19% Co2 reduction relative to existing Part L of the Building Regulations
(2013), in addition to a 20% on-site reduction in Co2 resulting from green energy provision in
accordance with the provisions of the adopted Sustainable Construction Supplementary Planning
Document2.
Ecosystem Services:

7.28

Policy SD2 of the SDLP (2019) provides that development will be permitted that secures an
overall positive impact on the ability of natural environment to contribute goods and services.
Development should incorporate high quality design and deliver opportunities to sustainably
manage the use of resources, mitigate/increase resilience to the impacts of climate change,
improve public health and improve habitats and biodiversity.

7.29

This application is accompanied by an ecosystem services report, which intended measures to

2

Sustainable Construction Supplementary Planning Document (2020) (https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2020/08/Sustainable-Construction-SPD-FINAL-25-Aug-2020.pdf)

Page 62

reduce resource use (interrelated to the preceding section of this report), together with
enhancements to biodiversity and ecology arising from the removal of existing structures and
hardstand in addition to the provision of new native planting.
7.30

The submitted ecosystem services report does not describe, in detail, where additional planting
will be undertaken, though, subject to the receipt of details in connection with an appropriately
worded landscaping condition, together with further technical assessment in relation to Co2
reduction, the provisions of policy SD2 are deemed satisfied in this instance.
Dark Night Skies:

7.31

Policy SD8 of the SDLP (2019) provides that development will be permitted that conserves and
enhances the intrinsic quality of dark night skies and the integrity of the Dark Sky Core.
Development must demonstrate that all opportunities to reduce light pollution have been taken,
including the avoidance of unnecessary lighting and appropriate mitigation where unavoidable.

7.32

The application site is located within Dark Skies Zone E1(b), described as a transition zone
present to the perimeter of the International Dark Skies Reserve. These transition zones
separate the darker elements of the Reserve (zones E1(a) and E0), from brighter areas, though,
may still benefit from a high measured sky quality in rural areas.

7.33

As described in the submitted planning statement, and shown on the submitted plans, the
proposed dwelling would not incorporate roof-glazing in the form of rooflights/lanterns, with a
proportionate ratio of glazed and solid horizontal surfaces incorporated. It is not considered that
the design of the proposed dwelling would detrimentally influence local sky quality or conditions,
accordingly.

7.34

The submitted planning statement, at paragraph 11.25, makes reference to the intended provision
of a minor amount of external lighting. In principle it is considered that a small amount of
timed/triggered external lighting for safety/security purposes could prove appropriate in the
transition zone of the Dark Skies Reserve, subject to the receipt of details relating the
composition, orientation and amount of such lighting which can be secured by means of
condition.

8

Conclusions

8.1

It is considered that the proposed replacement dwelling would not adversely influence the supply
of small and medium sized housing within the National Park, therefore, is deemed to comply with
the Authority’s overarching strategy for replacement dwellings and the provision of market
housing at Policies SD27 and SD30.

8.2

The proposed dwelling is considered of an acceptable design, scale and siting, with the proposals
overall considered to result in a minor benefit to local character and appearance through a netreduction in built-form and footprint in compliance with Policies SD4 and SD5 in addition to
policy 14 of the SSWNP.

8.3

Subject to appropriately worded conditions it is considered that the proposal would achieve
acceptable standards of energy efficiency and renewable energy generation in accordance with
policies SD48 and the adopted Sustainable Design SPD. The removal of existing
structures/hardstand, reductions in resource use, together with new native planting would
achieve an ecosystem services gain, further, in compliance with policy SD2.

8.4

It is not considered that the proposal would adversely influence the amenities of neighbouring
occupiers, highway safety and operation or the integrity of the International Dark Skies Reserve.

8.5

Overall, therefore, it is considered that the proposal would comply with all relevant development

Page 63

plan policy, and is recommended for approval accordingly, subject to the conditions set out
below.
9

Conditions
9.1

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions set out
below.
1

A list of the approved plans.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

3.

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a
drainage strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
drained and to comply with Policy SD50 of the South Downs Local Plan (2019)

4.

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted
shall be first occupied until full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall
have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
The details shall include plans and measures addressing the following:






Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained;
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying
species, planting size, densities and plant numbers;
Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes;
Details of all boundary treatments;
Details of all external lighting, including positioning, orientation and
composition

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with
the approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation
of any part of the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved
landscaping, no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted,
felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous written consent of the
Local Planning Authority until 5 years after completion of the development. Any
proposed or retained planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is removed,
or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority
gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to its landscape
and built surroundings, in the interests of visual amenity, so as to achieve an
ecosystem services net gain and preserve the integrity of the International Dark
Skies Reserve in accordance with policies SD2, SD4, SD5 and SD8 of the South
Downs Local Plan (2019).
5.

Pre-Occupation Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be
occupied until optional requirement G2 to the Building Regulations 2010 (as

Page 64

amended) to limit water usage of that dwelling to 110 litres per person per day
has been achieved. Water limiting measures to meet this standard shall
thereafter be permanently retained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to limit water use in order to improve the
sustainability of the development in accordance with Policy SD48 of the South
Downs Local Plan (2019)
6.

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted
shall occupied until a fast charge electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling
has been installed. As a minimum, the charge point specification shall be 7kW
mode 3 with type 2 connector. The means for charging electric vehicles shall be
thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the
District and to sustain compliance with and contribute towards national
objectives for pollutants in accordance with Policies SD22, SD23 and SD48 of the
South Downs Local Plan (2019)

7.

Pre-Occupation Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be
occupied unless and until cycle parking facilities have been provided within the
outbuilding hereby approved, as detailed on plan ref: 0194/PA/200 dated
17.11.2020. Cycle parking facilities, therefore, shall be retained as approved.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of cycle parking and to promote
sustainable modes of travel in accordance with Policy SD22 of the South Downs
Local Plan (2019)

8.

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the occupation of the development
hereby permitted or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority an as-built stage sustainability report shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
For energy this must demonstrate:
a)
b)

Predicted CO2 emissions for the new dwelling to be at least 19%
reduced through the energy efficiency of the buildings. compared to the
target emission rate baseline set by building regulations
Predicted CO2 emissions for the new dwelling to be at least 20%
reduced through the use of on-site low or zero carbon energy
generation compared to the target emission rate baseline set by building
regulations.

Reason: To ensure an environmentally sustainable development in accordance
with policies SD2 and SD48 of the South Downs Local Plan (2019) and in
accordance with the adopted Sustainable Construction Supplementary Planning
Document (2020)
9.

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling
hereby permitted the parking, turning and access facilities necessary to serve the
dwelling shall be constructed and made available for use as approved on plan ref:
0194/PA/200, dated: 17.11.2020
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of parking and turning facilities in
accordance with policy SD22 of the South Downs Local Plan (2020).

10.

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling materials, colours and finishes to the
hereby approved shall match those indicated on the approved elevations, ref:

Page 65

0194/PA/203, 0194/PA/204, 0194/PA/205, 0194/PA/206 unless details of
alternative materials, colours and/or finishes are submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of relevant
works above ground floor slab level.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to its
landscape and built surroundings, in the interests of visual amenity and in
accordance with Policy SD5 of the South Downs Local Plan (2019)
11.

12.

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed
within the curtilage of the dwelling hereby approved, other than as approved in
connection with an approved landscaping scheme.
Reason: To preserve the intrinsic quality and integrity of the International Dark
Skies Reserve in accordance with Policy SD8 of the South Downs Local Plan
(2019).
Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015
(and/or any Order revoking and/or re-enacting that Order no development
falling within Classes A, C and E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the order shall be
erected, constructed or placed within the curtilage of the dwelling hereby
permitted without express planning consent from the Local Planning Authority
first being obtained.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity, to preserve the integrity of the
International Dark Skies Reserve and to preserve the supply of medium sized
housing within the National Park, in accordance with Policies SD5, SD8, SD27
and SD30 of the South Downs Local Plan (2019).

13.

Post-Occupation Condition: Upon the occupation of the building hereby
permitted the existing dwelling known as ‘Greenacres Lodge’, together with
existing storage and workshop buildings identified for demolition, as detailed on
plans ref: LCEGF- 115 1630 (dated February 2020), 0194/PA/101, 0194/PA/102,
0194/PA/103, 0194/PA/105 and 0194/PA/106 (dated: 17.11.2020) shall cease to
be used for any purpose whatsoever and within a period of 3 months thereafter
shall be demolished (including the removal of foundations) and all materials
arising from such demolition removed from the site.
Reason: The retention of an existing dwelling in addition to the dwelling hereby
approved would result in an increase in the level of residential occupancy,
contrary to the provisions of policy SD30 of South Downs Local Plan (2019), and
to avoid a proliferation of buildings to the detriment to the character of the area
contrary to policies SD4 and SD of the South Downs Local Plan (2019).

10.

Crime and Disorder Implications

10.1

It is considered that the proposal does not raise any crime and disorder implications.

11.

Human Rights Implications

11.1

This planning application has been considered in light of statute and case law and any interference
with an individual’s human rights is considered to be proportionate to the aims sought to be
realised.

12.

Equality Act 2010

12.1

Due regard has been taken of the South Downs National Park Authority’s equality duty as

Page 66

contained within the Equality Act 2010.

13.

Proactive Working
Statement pursuant to Article 35 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure) (England) Order 2015. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and
proactively in determining this application by assessing the proposal against all material
considerations, including planning policies and any representations that may have been received, in
order to be able to, where possible, grant permission.

Tim Slaney
Director of Planning
South Downs National Park Authority

Contact Officer:

Giles Holbrook

Tel:

01403 215436

email:

Giles.Holbrook@horsham.gov.uk

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application

Background Documents:
SDNP/20/05283/FUL

Page 67

Appendix 1 – Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application
The application has been assessed and recommendation is made on the basis of the following plans and
documents submitted:
Plan Type
Plans - Existing and Proposed
Location Plan
Plans - Existing and Proposed
Block Plan
Reports - Design and Access
Statement
Reports - Planning & Noise
Statement
Plans - Existing Floor and
Elevations Buildings 1 Workshop
Plans - Existing Floor and
Elevations Buildings 2 Store
Reports - Ecosystem Services
Report
Plans - Floor and Elevations The
Lodge
Plans - Proposed Section and
Elevation
Plans - Proposed West Elevation
Plans - Proposed South Elevation
Plans - Proposed East Elevation
Plans - Proposed North Elevation
Plans - Proposed Roof Plan
Plans - Proposed Floor Plan
Plans - Proposed Site Plan
Plans - Existing Floor and
Elevations Buildings 5 - Field
Shelter
Plans - Existing Floor and
Elevations Buildings 4 - Stable
Plans - Existing Floor and
Elevations Buildings 2 - Store

Reference
0194/PA/100

Version
REV A

Date on Plan
25.11.2020

Status
Approved

25.11.2020

Approved

08.12.2020

Approved

NONE

25.11.2020

Approved

0194/PA/102

25.11.2020

Approved

0194/PA/103

25.11.2020

Approved

NONE

25.11.2020

Approved

LCEGF-115

25.11.2020

Approved

0194/PA/300

25.11.2020

Approved

0194/PA/206
0194/PA/205
0194/PA/204
0194/PA/203
0194/PA/202
0194/PA/201
0194/PA/200
0194/PA/106

25.11.2020
25.11.2020
25.11.2020
25.11.2020
25.11.2020
25.11.2020
25.11.2020
25.11.2020

Approved
Approved
Approved
Approved
Approved
Approved
Approved
Approved

0194/PA/105

25.11.2020

Approved

0194/PA/101
NONE

REV A

0194/PA/103

Reasons: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Page 68

Approved

07) SDNP/20/05253/FUL
Greenacres Farm, Washington Road, Storrington, RH20 4AF

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public
The Lodge

¯

Willow Tree Cott

Holly Cottage

4

Ivy Cottage

Green

Pond

1
acres

Co tta

g es

Greenacres Farm

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

25/02/2021

Page 69MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

9 March 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Construction of a detached single storey dwelling and detached garage
with associated external works.

SITE:

Badgers Nook Melton Avenue Storrington West Sussex RH20 4BH

WARD:

Storrington and Washington

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2280

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs M Newnum Address: New Cote Cottage 6 Cote
Street Worthing BN13 3EX West Sussex

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: At the request of Storrington Parish Council
RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a single storey dwelling and
detached garage.

1.2

The proposed dwelling would be located to the southern portion of the site, and would consist
of an ‘H’ shaped building comprising two main blocks and a connecting link. The dwelling
would be of single storey and would predominantly incorporate a mono-pitched roof at
converging angles, albeit that the link would utilise a flat roof. The dwelling would measure
to an overall height of 4.8m, and would be finished in vertical cladding. The dwelling would
provide a living/kitchen/dining room, snug, utility room, shower room, and 3no.bedrooms
(one with ensuite and dressing room).

1.3

The detached garage would be located to the north of the proposed dwelling, and would
measure to a length of 12m and an overall depth of 9.4m. The proposal would incorporate a
pitched roof measuring to a height of 4.9m above the ground level, and set down slightly
from the host dwelling.

1.4

The layout and siting of the dwelling has been directed by existing sewage and water mains
passing through the site.

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 71

Tel: 01403 215166

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.5

The application site is located to the east of Merryfield Way and the west of Melton Avenue,
and is located within the built-up area of Storrington. The site forms part of a lower density
development to the edge of the more densely developed core of Storrington.

1.6

The site is accessed from the east, and comprises residential amenity space located to the
east of the host dwelling. The application site is surrounded by detached residential dwelling,
with the ground level sloping down to the north. The site is bound by mature trees and
hedging.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities

2.3

RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Storrington, Sullington and Washington Neighbourhood Plan
Policy 1: A Spatial Plan for the Parishes
Policy 14: Design
Policy 15: Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 17: Traffic and Transport

2.4

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/10/2560

DC/15/0756

Outline permission for the demolition of existing house
and provision of two new four bedroom chalet type
houses
Outline application for one five bedroomed dwelling

Page 72

Application Permitted on
01.02.2011
Application Refused on
19.08.2015

DC/18/0736

DISC/19/0017

Reserved matters application for the erection of one
five bedroomed dwelling following approval of outline
application DC/15/0756, relating to demolition of
existing attached double garage within the curtilage of
the application site and erection fence not exceeding
1.8m high along the length of the proposed new
boundary
Approval of details reserved by condition 2,3, 4 and 5
to approved application DC/18/0736

Application Permitted on
12.06.2018

Application Permitted on
18.09.2019

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.2

WSCC Highways: No Objection
The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph
109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.

3.3

Southern Water: No Comment

3.4

County Fire Officer: Comment
Further information will be required on the access to the property to ensure it complies with
Approved Document – B (AD-B) Volume 1 2019 edition: B5 section 13 Vehicle access. This
is to ensure the access route is suitable for a fire appliance to gain access, with sufficient
width, capable of supporting 12.5 tonne axial weight, and sufficient turning facility (AD_B Vol.
1 - diagram 13.1 & Table 13.1).
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.5

Storrington Parish Council: Objection on the following grounds:
-

Siting of proposed garage
Development located in close proximity to Serena
External finishes and design of the dwelling are unsympathetic to surrounding properties
Size of garage

3.6

Two letters of support were received which considered that the proposal was a good use of
space and an attractive, contemporary design.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

Page 73

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a single storey dwelling and
detached garage.
Principle of Development

6.2

Policy 3 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) states that development will
be permitted within towns and villages which have defined built-up areas. Any infilling and
redevelopment will be required to demonstrate that it is of an appropriate nature and scale
to maintain the characteristics and function of the settlement in accordance with the
settlement hierarchy.

6.3

Policy 1 of the adopted Storrington, Sullington and Washington Neighbourhood Plan states
that development proposals located inside built-up area boundaries will be supported
provided they accord with other provisions of the Development Plan.

6.4

The application site is located within the built-up area of Storrington and Sullington, where
the principle of infill development is considered acceptable in principle, subject to all other
material considerations.

6.5

The application site has been subject of previous planning decisions for a new dwelling on
the site, and this was considered at Outline stage under planning reference DC/15/0756. The
application was initially refused by the Local Planning Authority as it was considered that the
proposed subdivision would be out of keeping with the character and build pattern of the
locality. A subsequent appeal concluded that the proposed subdivision would result in a plot
size similar to others in the vicinity, with the illustrative proposal suggesting that there would
be sufficient space around the proposed building such that a dwelling would not appear
cramped within the site.

6.6

The principle of development for 1no. detached dwelling has been established by the
previous planning approval and is therefore considered acceptable subject to all other
material considerations.
Design and Appearance

6.7

Policies 25, 32 and 33 of the HDPF promote development that is of a high quality design,
which is sympathetic to the character and distinctiveness of the site and surroundings. The
landscape character of the area should be protected, conserved and enhanced, with
proposals contributing to a sense of place through appropriate scale, massing and
appearance.

6.8

Policy 14 of the adopted Storrington, Sullington and Washington Neighbourhood Plan states
that the scale, density, massing, height, landscape design, layout and materials of all
development proposal will be required to reflect the architectural and historic character and
scale of the surrounding buildings and landscape.

6.9

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments
function well and add to the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of
good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting;
establish a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types

Page 74

and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and
mix of development; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible.
6.10

The proposed dwelling would be located to the southern portion of the site, and would consist
of an ‘H’ shaped building comprising two main blocks and a connecting link. The dwelling
would be of single storey and would predominantly incorporate a mono-pitched roof at
converging angles, albeit that the link would utilise a flat roof. The detached garage would
be located to the north of the proposed dwelling, and would measure to a length of 12m and
an overall depth of 9.4m. The proposal would incorporate a pitched roof measuring to a
height of 4.9m above the ground level, and set down slightly from the host dwelling.

6.11

The application site comprises backland development located to the rear of the frontage
dwellings of Melton Avenue and Merryfield Way. Given this context, the site is well enclosed
and is not readily apparent from public viewpoints.

6.12

The proposed site is relatively modest in size, particularly when considered within the context
of the wider surroundings, and it is therefore considered that the single storey nature and
modest proportions of the dwelling better reflect the site constraints. While the dwelling would
sit in close relation to the surrounding residential dwellings, the modest proportions are
considered to result in an unobtrusive dwelling that would have a better relationship with the
existing built form. This is considered to be a material consideration of weight in the appraisal
of the proposal.

6.13

It is noted that the Parish Council have raised an objection to the proposal on the grounds of
the design and appearance. While recognised that the proposed dwelling would utilise a
contemporary design and form that would be unreflective of the surrounding vernacular, and
would therefore result in some conflict with Policy 14 of the adopted Storrington, Sullington
and Washington Neighbourhood Plan, it is recognised that the proposal would not be overtly
visible from the street scene nor readily apparent from wider public view. It is not therefore
considered that the proposal would result in harm to the visual amenity of the street scene
or wider townscape character.

6.14

The design of the dwelling is considered to be of a scale, massing and overall design that
would appropriately reflect the constraints of the site. Therefore, while some conflict with
Policy 14 of the adopted Neighbourhood Plan has been identified, it is considered that the
proposal would result in a better quality environment that would sit more comfortably within
the confines of the site. The public benefit arising from the scheme is therefore considered
to outweigh the limited conflict identified.

6.15

It is also recognised that the Parish Council have raised an objection to the proposal on the
grounds of the siting and scale of the proposed garage. The proposed garage would be
located to the north-eastern corner of the site, within an area of unused land. Following
concerns with the initial proposal, the garage has been reduced in size and footprint, with
the height also reduced so that it sits in line with the ridge of the principal dwelling. These
amendments have sought to reduce the scale and proportions of the proposed garage so
that it is reflective of the scale and footprint of the principal dwelling.

6.16

While the proposal would appear as a relatively bulky addition within the context of the site,
it is has been positioned so that it would not be readily apparent from the street scene, and
is considered to be appropriately subservient to the principal dwelling. The proposal is
considered to sit comfortably within the context, taking account of the sloped nature of the
site, and is considered to be designed to reflect the character and appearance of the principal
dwelling. Given the siting of the proposed addition, which would be relatively sheltered from
wider view, the proposal is not considered to result in substantial harm that would justify a
reason for refusal.

Page 75

6.17

Given the enclosed nature of the application site, it is not considered that the proposal would
result in visual harm to the character and amenity of the street scene. While the design would
be contemporary in nature, and would therefore result in some conflict with Policy 14 of the
Storrington, Sullington and Washington Neighbourhood Plan, it is not considered that the
design itself is so harmful to justify a reason for refusal. In consideration of the site context
and its relationship with the surroundings, it is considered that the modest proportions of the
built form would result in a better relationship with the surrounding residential dwellings. On
the balance of all considerations, it is therefore considered that the harm arising from the
contemporary design would be limited, with the proportions and unobtrusive scale
considered to result in a better arrangement and relationship that would outweigh this limited
harm. The proposed development is therefore considered to accord with Policies 25, 32, and
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Amenity Impacts

6.18

Policy 33 states that development should consider the scale, massing and orientation
between buildings, respecting the amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring properties.

6.19

The proposed dwelling would be located to the east of the dwelling known as Serena, and
would be located immediately to the rear of the residential curtilage to The Lea, with the
residential dwelling located approximately 48m to the west of this neighbouring property. The
proposed dwelling would incorporate 2no. high level windows to the western elevation,
serving a dressing room, with the eastern elevation including one window and double door
opening to the kitchen/living/dining room.

6.20

Given the proposed siting and single storey nature of the dwelling, it is not considered that
the proposal would result in harm to the amenities of the neighbouring properties to the north,
east and south through overlooking, loss of light, or privacy.

6.21

It is recognised that 2no. high level windows would be located on the western elevation of
the proposed dwelling, facing toward the primary residential amenity space of the
neighbouring property to the west. While recognised that this has the potential to result in the
perception of overlooking, it is acknowledged that the previous planning approval under
DC/18/0736 approved 2no. larger windows on this elevation which opened to habitable
rooms. The current proposal seeks to reduce the expanse of openings along this elevation,
with the modest size of the proposed windows considered to limit potential outlook. Given
this context, it is not considered that a reason for refusal on amenity grounds could be
justified.

6.22

On the balance of these considerations, it is considered that the proposed dwelling would
result in no further harm to the amenities or sensitivities of neighbouring properties, in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Highways Impacts

6.23

Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate
access, suitable for all users.

6.24

The existing access serving the dwellings known as Serena and Stonehurst would be utilised
as the access to the new dwelling. This access extends from Melton Avenue, a private road,
and is an established access.

6.25

The acceptability of the proposed access arrangement was established under previous
planning approval DC/18/0736, where it was considered that the proposed development
would not result in any intensification to the use of the access, with the layout of the proposed
site considered to adequately accommodate off-road parking.

Page 76

6.26

The current proposal seeks to utilise this established access arrangement, and it is therefore
considered that the proposed development would result in no further harm to the safety and
function of the highway network, in accordance with Policies 40 and 41 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
Climate Change

6.27

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. The proposed development
includes the following measures to build resilience to climate change and reduce carbon
emissions:
-

6.28

In addition to these measures conditions are attached to secure the following:
-

6.29

Reduced water consumption
Improved energy performance through low voltage lighting, increased insulation
standards, and the use of solar gain

Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
Refuse and recycling storage
Cycle parking facilities
1 electric vehicle charging points

Subject to these conditions the application will suitably reduce the impact of the development
on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Conclusion

6.30

The principle of development on the site was established by the previous approval under
reference DC/15/0756. The current application seeks an alternative design and form to that
approved at reserved matters stage, with the dwelling of a slightly different siting and
orientation, with the addition of a detached garage to the north. While recognised that the
proposed design and form would be contemporary in nature, and would contrast the rural
vernacular of surrounding development, the proposal is not considered to result in significant
harm to the character and visual amenities of the surroundings. The enclosed nature of the
site is considered to limit wider public views, with the modest proportions and scale of the
proposed development considered to result in a better arrangement and quality of
development that would outweigh the limit harm arising from the design. The proposal is not
considered to result in harm to the amenities of neighbouring properties, with a sufficient
amount of off-road parking provided. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with
Policies 1, 2, 3, 25, 32, 33, 40, and 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Zone 1

263

Page 77

Existing

Net Gain
0

263

Total Gain

263

Total Demolition

0

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.
In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

That the application is approved subject to the following conditions:
1

A list of the approved plans

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor
slab level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a
schedule of materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows
and roofs of the approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority in writing and all materials used in the construction of the
development hereby permitted shall conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to
control the development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to
achieve a building of visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

4

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby
permitted, the parking, turning and access facilities necessary to serve that dwelling
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details as shown on plan
2.01D and shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to
serve the development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

5

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling shall be first occupied until 1no. fast charge
electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling has been installed. As a minimum,
the charge point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector. The means
for charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District
and to sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national
objectives for pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

6

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be first occupied
unless and until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been provided
within the garage or side or rear garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter
be retained for use at all times.

Page 78

Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
7

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied or use
hereby permitted commenced until the cycle parking facilities serving it have been
provided within the garage or side or rear garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall
thereafter be retained for use at all times. The cycle parking facilities shall thereafter
be retained as such for their designated use.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, the
necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to
enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre
broadband connection shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future
occupiers in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

9

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall meet the optional
requirement of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110
litres per person per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall
thereafter be retained.
Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development
in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

10

Regulatory Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in
strict accordance with the Arboricultural Report reference Beechdown reference
B/022/18 and dated October 2018.
Reason: To ensure the successful and satisfactory retention of important trees and
hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/20/2280
DC/18/0736
DC/15/0756

Page 79

This page is intentionally left blank

08) DC/20/2280
Badgers Nook, Melton Avenue, Storrington, RH20 4BH
42.2m

¯

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

Thyme Cottage

Well Brackenhurst
Shutters

16

West Woods
Tillington

Roke

ME

El
Sub Sta

Oakwood

E

Downscott

E
AV
E
NU

Emily Cottage
Gables
Lane End
House
Merckx House
Stonehurst

Finnart Minterne
House

Westmead
House

ON
LT

38.7m

11

Corsley

16

MELTON DR
IV

39.5m

White Cottage
Leyeshurst
Linden Lea

Tresvale

r
te
in
W

ld

fo

2

4

The Lea

6

Brambledown

10

Broadoaks

Southwood

Spilsby

Serena

Orrel Hey

Oaklynn

pe
rs
W

his

27
24

n
to

20

4

25

OA
NR

S
CHE
7

M

D

37

h
ug
A

31

)
(um

y
Ho

R
YE
FR

1

N
FRE

Pat
h

e
si d

d
for
an
Cr

Noahs Ark

1

22

M
er
ou
ry
nt
fie
V
ld
Lo iew
dg
LIM
e
EC
HA
SE

LD WAY

k
Ban

2

3

Treetops

Silver Birches
ck
o
r
e
Lav

High Ridge

21

Checkmate

ng
toordrige
SL

3

4

25

Greystones

Lob's
WooLdANE
WOOD
rs
LOBS
Badgoelt
H

Sunset Cottage

Woodpeckers

1

MERRYFIE

Three
Corners

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

25/02/2021

Page 81MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

9 March 2021

DEVELOPMENT:
SITE:

Erection of a two storey detached dwelling with associated access,
landscaping and parking.
Infill Plot Land West of Elmfield House New Hall Lane Small Dole West
Sussex BN5 9YH

WARD:

Bramber, Upper Beeding and Woodmancote

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2269

APPLICANT:

Name: Clow Address: care of agent Melton Lodge Rusper Road
Newdigate RH5 5BX

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a two storey detached
dwelling and associated works.

1.2

The proposed dwelling would be sited centrally within the site, and set back from the road
frontage by approximately 9.7m. The proposed dwelling would be stepped back from the
neighbouring property of Elmfield Gardens to the west and would project forward of the front
elevation of Hill View to the east. The proposal would measure to an overall length of 10.5m
and a total depth of 13m, and would incorporate a pitched roof measuring to an overall height
of 7.2m. A hipped roof dormer would extend from the eaves of the front and rear elevations
respectively, with a single first floor side window to the western elevation. The proposal would
provide kitchen/family/dining room, utility room, living room, and, w.c, to the ground floor,
with 4no. bedrooms (with ensuites) to the first floor.

1.3

A new access is proposed to the north-western corner of the application site, with an area of
hardstanding to allow for off-road parking located to the frontage. The existing natural

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 83

Tel: 01403 215166

vegetation that bounds the site would be retained, with the amenity area to the south laid to
grass.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.4

The application site is located to the south of New Hall Lane, within the built-up area of Small
Dole. The site comprises an undeveloped and relatively flat parcel of land that is surrounded
by the linear residential development of New Hall Lane.

1.5

The wider residential development consists of an eclectic mix of detached and semidetached dwellings of both single and two storeys, all of which are set back from the road
frontage.

1.6

The neighbouring property to the east is stepped back from the relatively continuous build
line, with the neighbouring property to the west sited along the build line, and incorporating
several ground and first floor windows to the side elevation.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Henfield Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2031 – Examiner recommendation to proceed to
referendum
Policy 1: A Spatial Plan
Policy 4: Transport, Access and Car Parking
Policy 10: Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 12: Design Standards for New Development

Page 84

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
HF/71/01

Erection of 1 dwelling and access
Site: Land At Site W New Hall Lane Small Dole

Withdrawn Application on
29.10.2001

HF/85/02

Erection of 1 house
Site: Land At Site W New Hall Lane Small Dole

Withdrawn Application on
17.10.2002

HF/120/02

Erection of 1 house
Site: Site W New Hall Lane Small Dole

Withdrawn Application on
24.01.2003

HF/50/03

Erection of 1 house and access

Application Refused on
02.06.2004

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.2

WSCC Highways: No objection
The LHA accepts that small developments such as the one subject to the proposal, generate
a small increase of 1-2 trips a day per dwelling. Given the location and nature of the site. The
LHA would consider that the anticipated trip rate of 3 two-way trips, would not generate a
material intensification of the access or highway network in this location. An inspection of
data supplied to WSCC by Sussex Police over a period of the past five years reveals that
there have been no recorded injury collisions within the vicinity of the New Hall Lane.
Therefore, there is no evidence to suggest that the existing junction access is currently
operating unsafely. With all the above considered, the LHA would not anticipate that the
proposal would generate a highways safety concern at the existing junction.
For the LHA to consider bay parking spaces towards the parking provision of the site they
must first measure 2.4 x 4.8 metres (as per MfS guidance). The LHA would consider the
parking spaces to provide a provision of 2 spaces. Thought the hardstanding is large enough
to accommodate more cars, this would restrict the ability for cars to turn on site and is likely
not to be common practice. The application site is located at distance from any publicly
maintainable highway along a private road. As a result, any parking displacement caused by
the development is to be considered an amenity issue and should be resolved by the Local
Planning Authority (LPA).
In the interests of sustainability and as result of the Government’s ‘Road to Zero’ strategy for
at least 50% of new car sales to be ultra-low emission by 2030, electric vehicle (EV) charging
points should be provided for all new homes. Active EV charging points should be provided
for the development in accordance with current EV sales rates within West Sussex (Appendix
B of WSCC Guidance on Parking at New Developments) and Horsham Local Plan policy.
Ducting should be provided to all remaining parking spaces to provide ‘passive’ provision for
these to be upgraded in future. Details of this can be secured via a suitably worded condition
which is advised below.
The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph
109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.

3.3

Southern Water: No objection

Page 85

In order to protect drainage apparatus, Southern Water requests that if consent is granted, a
condition is attached to the planning permission requiring the diversion of the public sewers,
in consultation with Southern Water, prior to the commencement of the development.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
3.4

Henfield Parish Council: Objection of the grounds that the scale and massing is out of
proportion.

3.5

16 letters of objection were received from 12 separate households, and these can be
summarised as follows:
-

Impact on highway safety at junction

-

Increased volume of traffic

-

Overshadowing and loss of light

-

Overdevelopment

-

Increased flood risk

-

Impact on pedestrian access and public footpath

-

Not allocated in the Neighbourhood Plan

-

Flood risk arising from development

-

Sewage disposal issues

-

Setting of a precedence

-

Loss of vegetation and impact on wildlife

-

Scale of the proposed dwelling

-

Noise impact

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a two storey detached
dwelling and associated works.

Page 86

Principle of Development
6.2

Policy 3 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) states that development will
be permitted within towns and villages which have defined built-up areas. Any infilling and
redevelopment will be required to demonstrate that it is of an appropriate nature and scale
to maintain the characteristics and function of the settlement in accordance with the
settlement hierarchy.

6.3

Draft Policy 1 of the Henfield Neighbourhood Plan outlines that development proposals
located inside the built-up area boundary will be supported, provided they accord with the
other provisions of the Henfield Neighbourhood Plan and the Horsham District Planning
Framework (HDPF).

6.4

The application site is located within the built-up area of Small Dole, where infill development
is considered acceptable in principle, subject to all other material considerations.
Design and Appearance

6.5

Policies 25, 32 and 33 of the HDPF promote development that is of a high quality design,
which is sympathetic to the character and distinctiveness of the site and surroundings. The
landscape character of the area should be protected, conserved and enhanced, with
proposals contributing to a sense of place through appropriate scale, massing and
appearance.

6.6

Draft Policy 12 of the Henfield Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals will
be supported where their design and detailing meet the relevant requirements in the Henfield
Parish Design Statement. In addition, as appropriate to the site concerned, development
proposals should comply with the following criteria: the design respects the amenities of
occupiers/users of nearby property and land; the design achieves satisfactory access without
harming the amenities of neighbouring properties and residents; the scale, density, massing,
height, layout, and materials of all development proposals are of a high quality and reflect
the architectural and historic character and scale of surrounding buildings.

6.7

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments
function well and add to the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of
good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting;
establish a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types
and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and
mix of development; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible.

6.8

It is recognised that the wider street scene is characterised by an eclectic array of detached
and semi-detached dwellings comprising various designs, form, and materials. The
application site itself is located between a detached two storey dwelling to the east and a
semi-detached two storey dwelling to the west, both of which are set back at various
distances from the road frontage along a staggered build line. Given this context, it is
important that any proposal be thoughtfully designed to ensure an appropriate transition
between the surrounding buildings. Issues of siting, bulk, height, and proportion are therefore
considered to be of intrinsic importance to ensure that the design appropriately relates to the
surrounding context.

6.9

Concerns were initially raised regarding the scale, proportion and siting of the proposed
dwelling, and the impact the proposal would have on the visual amenities of the street scene.
Amendments were received which re-positioned the dwelling, reduced the footprint, scale,
bulk, and height of the proposal, and lessened the massing. These alterations sought to

Page 87

address the visual prominence of the dwelling and have facilitated a better transition between
the built form along the street scene.
6.10

Subject to these amendments, the proposed dwelling is considered to sit appropriately within
the context of the site and the immediate neighbouring properties, and is considered to be of
a scale, form, and massing that relates sympathetically to the wider built form. It is recognised
that there is no defined character within the street scene, with the proposal considered to
utilise features and form present within the wider locality. As such, the proposed dwelling is
considered to be of a design and appearance that relates to and reinforces the character of
the street scene and wider surroundings. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with
Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Amenity Impacts

6.11

Policy 33 states that development should consider the scale, massing and orientation
between buildings, respecting the amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring properties.

6.12

The proposed dwelling would be located centrally within the plot, and would be sited along a
staggered build line projecting forward of Hill View to the east, and set back from Elmfield
Gardens to the west. The proposed dwelling would be set at a distance of approximately
4.4m from the neighbouring property to the east, and 4..7m to the west, with the proposal
incorporating first floor side window to the western elevation.

6.13

While recognised that the proposed dwelling would sit forward of the neighbouring property
to the east, it is considered that the distance between the dwellings would facilitate only
oblique views, with limited harm arising through overshadowing and loss of light. In addition,
given the residential context of the wider surroundings, a degree of mutual overlooking is
anticipated and accepted. The proposed dwelling is not considered to result in any further
overlooking than generally accepted in the locality, and is not considered to result in harm in
this regard.

6.14

For these reasons, the proposed development is not considered to result in harm to the
amenities and sensitivities to neighbouring properties, in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Highways Impacts

6.15

Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate
access, suitable for all users.

6.16

Draft Policy 4 of the Henfield Neighbourhood Plan states that as appropriate to the scale,
nature and location of development, proposal should demonstrate safe pedestrian routs from
residential sites to community facilities, and adequate off-road car parking should be
provided in accordance with West Sussex Parking Standards.

6.17

The proposal seeks to create a new access to the north-western corner of the application
site, which would measure to a width of 6.3m. The proposal would incorporate hardstanding
along the breadth of the frontage which would be utilised for parking and turning, with the
detached garage also providing an additional off-road parking space.

6.18

It is recognised that a previous application under reference HF/50/03 was refused on the
grounds of access, and particularly the state of New Hall Lane. At this time, it was considered
that the visibility splays at the junction with Shoreham Road were sub-standard and the width
of the lane did not allow for passing. Additional information was subsequently submitted to
address the issues with the visibility splays, but inadequate information to support the
installation of passing lanes was received. The application was therefore refused due to
concerns with accessibility along the lane.

Page 88

6.19

A number of applications for infill development have been approved along New Hall Lane,
where no objections have been raised in regard to accessibility along the lane. It is therefore
considered that a refusal on the grounds of accessibility and passing lanes could not be
substantiated or justified.

6.20

Following consultation with WSCC Highways, the proposed development is considered to
benefit from suitable visibility, with the additional dwelling not considered to generate a
material intensification of the access or public highway network. While parking for 3no.
vehicles is indicated on the plans, the area of hardstanding would not meet the standard to
meet this number. As such, it is considered that adequate space for only 2no. vehicles would
be provided on-site.

6.21

The West Sussex Parking Demand Calculator indicates that 3no. off-street parking spaces
would be required to meet the anticipated demand of the development. It is considered that
sufficient space on-site could be provided to accommodate the anticipated number, and
therefore should the application be approved, a condition requiring the submission of a
detailed Parking Plan would be imposed.

6.22

Subject to such condition, it is not considered that the proposal would result in material harm
to the function and safety of the public highway network, in accordance with Policies 40 and
41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Climate Change

6.23

6.24

6.25

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. The proposed development
includes the following measures to build resilience to climate change and reduce carbon
emissions:
-

Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity

-

Improved energy performance, including higher levels of insulation, double glazing, and
low energy lighting

In addition to these measures conditions are attached to secure the following:
-

Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day

-

Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity

-

Refuse and recycling storage

-

Cycle parking facilities

-

1 electric vehicle charging points

Subject to these conditions the application will suitable reduce the impact of the development
on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Conclusion

6.26

The proposed infill dwelling is considered to be acceptable in principle, and is considered to
be of a design, scale and form that would relate appropriately to the character and visual
amenities of the street scene and locality. The proposal is not considered to result in harm
to the amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring properties, and is not considered to result
in material harm to the function and safety of the public highway network. The proposal is

Page 89

therefore considered to accord with Policies 1, 2, 3, 25, 32, 33, and 41 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Zone 1

Existing

206

Net Gain
0

Total Gain

206
206

Total Demolition

0

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.
In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.
7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

That the application is approved subject to the following conditions:
1

A list of the approved plans

2

Regulatory (Time) Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun
before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any
works of demolition, until the following construction site set-up details have been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
i.
ii.

the location for the loading and unloading of plant and materials, site offices,
and storage of plant and materials (including any stripped topsoil)
the provision of wheel washing facilities (if necessary) and dust suppression
facilities

The approved details shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in order to consider the potential impacts on
the amenity of nearby occupiers during construction and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage
strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.

Page 90

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
drained and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
5

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a detailed
plan showing the measures to divert the public sewers has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
serviced and to comply with Policies 32, 33 and 38 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

6

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor
slab level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a
schedule of materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows
and roofs of the approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority in writing and all materials used in the construction of the
development hereby permitted shall conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to
control the development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to
achieve a building of visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the
development hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall
have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
The details shall include plans and measures addressing the following:






Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying
species, planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
A written outline soft specification, including ground preparation, cultivation and
other operations associated with plant and grass establishment
Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
Details of all boundary treatments

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any
part of the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved
landscaping, no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted,
felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous written consent of the Local
Planning Authority until 5 years after completion of the development. Any proposed
planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to
any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
8

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the
development hereby permitted, a plan showing the layout of the proposed
development and the provision of car parking spaces for 3no. vehicles shall have

Page 91

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No
dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied or use hereby permitted commenced
until the parking spaces associated with it have been provided in accordance with the
approved details. The areas of land so provided shall thereafter be retained for the
parking of vehicles.
Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory provision is made for the parking
of vehicles clear of all highways in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015)
9

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling shall be first occupied until a fast charge
electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling has been installed. As a minimum,
the charge point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector. The means
for charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District
and to sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national
objectives for pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

10

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be first occupied
unless and until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been provided
within the garage or side or rear garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter
be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied or use
hereby permitted commenced until the cycle parking facilities serving it have been
provided within the garage or side or rear garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall
thereafter be retained for use at all times. The cycle parking facilities shall thereafter
be retained as such for their designated use.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

12

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, the
necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to
enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre
broadband connection shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future
occupiers in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

13

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall meet the optional
requirement of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110
litres per person per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall
thereafter be retained.
Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development
in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/20/2269

Page 92

09) DC/20/2269
Infill Plot, Land West of Elmfield House, New Hall Lane, Small
Dole, BN5 9YH
Pond

¯

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

Stineht

LA N E

e

Dei-Gratia

Trev
e

ntur

ure
Coll
io

dwe
ll
Fair
field

ollo
w
eH

HALL

Brooklands

Spe
e

New Hall Cottage

Den

Southban

Hill
View

New Hall

The Gable
s

NE W

Elmfield
Gardens

Trev
anio
n

Pentland

2 Elmfield
House14.3m

16.0m
k Barn

Ridgecote

Downley
Homelan
d
The Crow's
Nest

Downsview

Eastmead

Jandola

New Hall
Farm Barn

kH
mT
0.91 0.91m R
H

0.91
mR
H

Drain
CD

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

25/02/2021

Page 93MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

